
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents first

Residents, 
Education and 
Environmental 
Services Policy 
Overview 
Committee
Date: THURSDAY, 19 MARCH 

2020

Time: 7.00 PM

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 5 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Media are welcome to attend. 

Councillors on the Committee

Wayne Bridges (Chairman)
Michael Markham (Vice-Chairman)
Allan Kauffman
Devi Radia
Stuart Mathers
John Morgan
Paula Rodrigues
Jan Sweeting
Steve Tuckwell

Tony Little (co-opted member)

Published: Wednesday, 11 March 2020
This agenda is available online at:
www.hillingdon.gov.uk or use a smart phone 
camera and scan the code below:

Contact: Neil Fraser
Tel: 01895 250692
Email: nfraser@hillingdon.gov.uk

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Useful information for 
residents and visitors

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services. 

Please enter via main reception and visit the 
security desk to sign-in and collect a visitors 
pass. You will then be directed to the 
Committee Room.

Accessibility

For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use in the various meeting rooms. 

Attending, reporting and filming of meetings

For the public part of this meeting, residents and the media are welcomed to attend, and if 
they wish, report on it, broadcast, record or film proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. It is recommended to give advance notice to ensure any particular 
requirements can be met. The Council will provide a seating area for residents/public, an 
area for the media and high speed WiFi access to all attending. The officer shown on the 
front of this agenda should be contacted for further information and will be available at the 
meeting to assist if required. Kindly ensure all mobile or similar devices on silent mode. 
Please note that the Council may also record or film this meeting and publish this online.

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless 
instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer.

In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire 
Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their 
way to the signed refuge locations.



Terms of Reference
The Following Terms of Reference are common to all Policy Overview Committees 
(referred to as “The overview role”):

1. To conduct reviews of policy, services or aspects of service which have either 
been referred by Cabinet, relate to the Cabinet Forward Plan, or have been 
chosen by the Committee according to the agreed criteria for selecting such 
reviews;

2. To monitor the performance of the Council services within their remit (including 
the management of finances and risk);

3. To comment on the proposed annual service and budget plans for the Council 
services within their remit before final approval by Cabinet and Council;

4. To consider the Forward Plan and comment as appropriate to the decision-maker 
on Key Decisions which relate to services within their remit (before they are taken 
by the Cabinet);

5. To review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet 
Member, a Council Committee or an officer.

6. To make reports and recommendations to the Council, the Leader, the Cabinet, a 
Policy Overview Committee or any other Council Committee arising from the 
exercise of the preceding terms of reference.

7. In accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007, to consider ‘Councillor Calls For Action’ (CCfA) submissions.

To perform the policy overview role outlined above in relation to the following matters:
1. Education Services and statutory education authority functions
2. School performance and attainment
3. School Transport
4. Relationships with Local Academies / Free Schools
5. Pre-School & Early Years Services
6. Youth Services & Careers Services 
7. Juvenile justice & probation services 
8. Adult Learning
9. Education and learning partnerships
10. Music & The Arts
11. Highways, traffic, parking & street environment
12. Local transport, including rail, cycling & London Underground
13. Footpaths and Bridleways
14. Road safety and education 
15. Planning & Building Control
16. Libraries
17. The Borough’s heritage and history
18. Sport & Leisure services
19. Waste management & recycling
20. Green spaces, allotments, woodlands, conservation and sustainable 

development
21. Consumer Protection, Trading Standards & Licensing
22. Registrars & Bereavement Services
23. Local watercourses, drainage and flooding
24. Environmental Health, Air & Noise Quality
25. Local impacts of Heathrow expansion 
26. Local impacts of High Speed Rail



Agenda

Chairman's Announcements

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declaration of Interest in matters coming before this meeting

3 To confirm that all items marked Part 1 will be considered in Public 
and that any items marked Part 2 will be considered in Private

4 To agree the Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 8

5 Standards and Quality in Education in Hillingdon 2018/2019 9 - 72

6 Elective Home Education Update 73 - 78

7 Update on Review into Littering and Fly-Tipping -

8 Cabinet Forward Plan 79 - 84

9 Work Programme 85 - 88



Minutes

RESIDENTS, EDUCATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

25 February 2020

Meeting held at Committee Room 5 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge

Committee Members Present: 
Councillors Wayne Bridges (Chairman), Michael Markham (Vice-Chairman), 
Allan Kauffman, Devi Radia, Stuart Mathers, John Morgan, Paula Rodrigues, 
Jan Sweeting and Tony Little

LBH Officers Present: 
Neil Fraser (Democratic Services Officer), James Rodger (Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Regeneration), Dan Kennedy (Director, Housing, Environment, 
Education, Performance, Health & Wellbeing), Iris Cerny (Senior School Improvement 
Link), Rani Dady (School Improvement / Governance / Moderation Manager), Sarah 
Phillips (School Place Planning Project Manager), Andre MaCleod (Lead Finance 
Business Partner) and Rebecca Yee (Infrastructure Planning Manager)

61.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies were received from Councillor Tuckwell.

62.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST IN MATTERS COMING BEFORE THIS MEETING  
(Agenda Item 2)

None.

63.    TO CONFIRM THAT ALL ITEMS MARKED PART 1 WILL BE CONSIDERED IN 
PUBLIC AND THAT ANY ITEMS MARKED PART 2 WILL BE CONSIDERED IN 
PRIVATE  (Agenda Item 3)

It was confirmed that all items would be considered in public.

64.    TO AGREE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Agenda Item 4)

Mr Little confirmed that his attendance had been omitted from the minutes.

Regarding minute 55, Councillor Sweeting advised that the resolutions should include 
that officers were to share the detail of High Needs Places funding with the Committee, 
once available.

Regarding minute 57, Councillor Morgan confirmed that the resolution on uniformed 
groups should cover all uniformed groups omitted from the report, and not be limited to 
the Northwood/Northwood Hills areas.

Councillor Sweeting advised that it was her understanding that the referred-to £2.5m 
for Youth Services was not to be used for the items as listed in the minutes, but was 
instead to be used across a number of financial years. The Committee agreed that this 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



point needed further clarity from finance officers. 

Councillor Mathers highlighted a typographical error, highlighting that the correct 
number of attendances to the Universal Youth Services over the last year was 32k. 

Regarding minute 58, Councillor Sweeting advised that she was yet to meet with the 
Chairman to discuss the amendments to the recommendations to the review into 
Littering and Fly-Tipping. The Chairman advised that he could speak with Councillor 
Sweeting after the meeting, should she wish.

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2020 be 
approved as a correct record, inclusive of the above amendments.

65.    DRAFT SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT STRATEGY 2020-2023  (Agenda Item 5)

Rani Dady (School Improvement Officer / Governance / Moderation Manager), and Iris 
Cerny, (Senior School Improvement Link), introduced the report detailing Hillingdon’s 
draft School Improvement Strategy for 2020-2023. It was confirmed that the proposed 
strategy had been updated to reflect new Schoosl Causing Concern guidance issued 
by central government, and had been designed to be school-led and collaborative in 
nature.

The Committee asked a number of questions, including:

Parents appeared to be absent from the consultees/stakeholders listed in the 
report. In addition, there did not appear to be any opportunities for whistle-
blowers to liaise with the Council. Why was this?

The strategy set out working partnerships between the Council and the Borough’s 
schools. Schools were felt to be best placed to consult directly with their parents and 
could then notify the Council of any issues, if identified. Whistle-blowers would follow 
the Council’s complaints process.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

What was the budget available to the service? How many children were classed 
as Special needs, and how much did it cost to educate a non Special Needs child 
versus a Special Needs Child? How was value for money assessed?

Budget and costs could be shared following the meeting. However, it was recognised 
that there was a big difference when allocating resource for a Special needs child 
versus a non-Special Needs Child. Each case is looked at individually, and an 
assessment of need is undertaken, before any funding is allocated. 

The report referenced the Strategic Partnership Board. Was this a new board, 
and what were its responsibilities? Were sufficient financial resources available 
for it to meet those responsibilities?

The Board had been in place since 2015, and was comprised of represntaions form 
schools, governors and the lcoal authority. The Board had also been responsible for 
the previous School-led Improvement Strategy. Though the Local Education Area 
Partnership (LEAP) had been in place for approximately a year, the Board would be 
responsible for driving and delivering the new strategy. Regarding finances, it was 
expected that the strategy would be delivered within current resources.

How effective was the previous strategy? How were children performing at key 
stages?

Page 2



The forthcoming Standards and Quality in Education report would contain government-
validated data that set out the effectiveness of the previous strategy and the 
subsequent attainment of the Borough’s children.

How was the Council working with schools who were facing challenges due to 
pupil demographics and other external issues?

Academy schools were liaised with through the Regional School’s Commissioner’s 
office, to understand the context they were working within and ensure any inspection 
was fairly taking into account said context. Maintained schools were also supported 
through the School Improvement Link officers, who worked with all schools across the 
three borough ‘patches’ – North, Central and South. Academy schools who were not 
engaging with the local authority would be approached through the office of the 
Regional School’s Commissioner.

Schools who were facing challenges due to the make up of their student body would be 
supported to always put the children first. Through the creation of development 
opportunities and other support mechanisms such as their own speech and language 
therapists, educational psychologists, parent support groups etc. The Civic Centre was 
central, to allow easy dialogue with colleagues across service areas as required.

Did the Council support schools where special needs children did not have 
Education and Healthcare Plans (EHCPs)?

The Council supported such schools in partnership with the SEN service, through 
observation to ensure quality of teaching, student performance tracking, etc. The 
Council often sought reassurances on how the schools were challenging their most 
able students, or how they were meeting the needs of the children who required 
additional support, and would hold the schools to account should the feedback not be 
satisfactory. 

Support would be provided, should a school advise the Council that it was struggling to 
cope.  

Did the Council have sufficient resourcing within the school improvement team? 
If extra resources were made available, where should these be allocated?

The team was resourced appropriately in order to meet its objectives. If extra resources 
were made available, these would be used to grow LEAP, further strengthening 
partnership working and supporting schools that were at risk of decline. It was 
important to ensure that all resources were used effectively.

How was the Council learning from alternative schools and other education 
providers, e.g. for those pupils who had been or were at risk of permanent 
exclusion?

Intelligence collected from the Admissions Service and a variety of schools was used to 
signpost schools to those that were performing well. Some excellent work was being 
carried out at schools that had specialist units attached, which was available as a 
resource that could be shared. For example, the success of autism units was 
recognised as a valuable source of sharable learnings.

How was the Council obtaining and measuring feedback from schools to the 
proposed strategy?

Page 3



The strategy has been developed with schools, and through the LEAP and the Schools 
Strategic Partnership Board (SSPB), with further consultation to take place in order to 
obtain and incorporate feedback before being finalised. The SSPB had wide 
representation from primary, secondary and special schools, as well as the governing 
body, which allowed for engagement with all stakeholders to enable true partnership 
working within the strategy.

RESOLVED:  

1. That the report be noted; 
2. That detail on the service budget, costs for providing education to Special 

Needs and non-Special Needs pupils, and the relevant SEN value for 
money assessment be provided to the Committee following the meeting.

66.    QUARTERLY SCHOOL PLACES PLANNING UPDATE INCL. SEPTEMBER 2020  
(Agenda Item 6)

Sarah Phillips (School Place Planning Project Manager) provided the Committee with 
the latest Quarterly School Places Planning Update. 

Overall, trends showed that demand for places in primary schools was high and 
plateauing. A small number of primary schools had surplus places and in light of this, 
were planning to reduce their Planned Admission Numbers (PANs), while some 
schools were trialling informal caps in certain year groups. Places were being carefully 
managed to ensure parents still received adequate choice over their children’s school 
places.

Demand for places at secondary schools was increasing, with higher numbers of pupils 
transitioning from primary to secondary places. Many schools within the Borough had 
been enlarged with new buildings and facilities to accommodate this increased 
demand. Some schools had added temporary extra places, and these had been 
carefully considered in light of parental preferences and the Borough’s transport links. 
Offer day was due on Monday 2 March, upon which day most parents would receive a 
place for their children at one of their preferred schools. Planning for permanent 
solutions to meet demand was continuing.

The Committee asked a number of questions, including:

How many of the approximately 51k children attending Hillingdon schools 
actually lived in the Borough?

Of the 51k, roughly 15% of Hillingdon pupils did not live in the Borough. However, 
approximately 15% of residents also chose to attend schools outside of Hillingdon. 
Schools on the boundary of Hillingdon often saw large numbers of pupils attending 
from other boroughs, up to 65% in some schools.

From a planning perspective, what were the considerations for schools looking 
to use temporary accommodation to meet demand for places?

The school would need to consider whether the land in question was within a Green 
Belt, within a floodplain, or whether the land was currently a playing field. Schools 
would be required to consult with all stakeholders, including Sport England (on the 
matter of the playing fields). Appeals to the Secretary of State would be required to 
overcome any veto by Sport England.

Page 4



How long was considered ‘temporary’ accommodation?

The length of term for temporary accommodation would be conditioned at the outset, 
e.g. for 3 years. Renewals could then be considered as and when required.

The report listed the number of pupils transferring to secondary from primary. 
What was the rate for this transition?

The ratio of pupils transferring from primary to secondary schools was approximately 
96%, with some pupils moving to schools outside of the Borough. Conversely, pupils 
from other boroughs also chose to attend Hillingdon schools. It was highlighted that 
since the publication of the report, the number of extra bulge places being offered by 
schools across the Borough was 145.

Primary schools were facing difficulties regarding pupil places. The example of a 
school within Northwood was highlighted. Were too many primary places being 
put into schools?

At the time of the commissioning of places, forecasts showed a certain level of 
demand.  However, changes in population across the Borough, for example due to 
location of jobs, choice of settlement areas, family birth rates etc. had resulted in a 
change of demand in certain areas. It was expected that such demographics would 
naturally ebb and flow across 30+ years. All children within the Borough had been 
provided with a school place, on time, during a period of considerable increased 
demand for primary school places.

The demand for secondary school places was being managed through 
temporary measures such as bulge years. The Borough was currently holding a 
small amount of surplus places, 1%, when guidance from central government 
suggested authorities should provide 5-10%. The number of children currently in 
certain primary school years was exceeding secondary places. Could the 
officers provide any information around a potential new school in the south of 
the Borough that could help alleviate these issues?

The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) was responsible for identifying a site 
for the approved new secondary free school. 

Options were begin presented to Cabinet members on how to address demand for 
school places in the long term. A firm agreement was in place to expand a school in the 
south of the Borough, with options available to expand two further schools, (though this 
could require reconfiguring the schools, which would result in a high unit cost). Officers 
were continuing to work closely with schools, and would provide further updates to the 
Committee when able.

If a school was struggling to accommodate its pupils, did the Council have the 
power to install new accommodation? 

The Council retained a budget for such matters, though the need to install new 
accommodation was assessed on an individual basis. 

How much interaction did the Council have with schools outside of Hillingdon 
when assessing population growth and potential demand for places in the 
Borough?

Page 5



Regular meetings with neighbouring authorities were held throughout each school 
term, for the purposes of assessing growth and demand.

A school within the north of the Borough as struggling financially due to a lack 
of pupils. Was the Council working to address this?

Officers were in close dialogue with the school and the ESFA. It would not be 
appropriate to share further detail at this time.

The report made reference to new ‘arrivals’. Were these people new to the 
Borough, or new to the UK?

This could be both, or either. The report did not specify.

How many unfilled places were expected in Year 7 for September 2020?

Unfilled places were expected to be lower than 5%.

Members requested that future reports include a detailed section on Special Needs 
cohorts, and that tables and charts were enlarged to aid comprehensibility.

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted.

67.    COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) REPORTING  (Agenda Item 7)

James Rodger (Head of Planning and Enforcement), Rebecca Yee (Infrastructure 
Planning Manager) and Andrew Macleod (Lead Finance Business Partner) introduced 
the annual report on the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

Officers confirmed that CIL was a charge which allowed the Council to raise funds from 
developers undertaking new building projects, which supported the financing of 
infrastructure costs across the Borough. In line with regulatory requirements, a detailed 
annual report on CIL total income and expenditure was required to be published to the 
Council’s website by 31 December in respect of the previous financial year.

CIL formed one of the sources of funding towards the overall capital programme. The 
level of CIL receipts achieved for capital financing each year was set out within the 
report, and at the end of December 2019, a total of £3,961k CIL receipts had been 
invoiced or received within the financial year.

CIL regulations stated that a minimum of 15% of receipts must be allocated to local 
neighbourhood projects. The Chrysalis programme met the criteria for local CIL 
infrastructure spending, with projects ranging in scale from £5k to £100k for local 
initiatives. Annual spend on the programme was approximately £1m, fully financed by 
CIL, which was in excess of the 15% total CIL receipts.

CIL regulations were amended in September 2019 and have introduced the 
requirement to produce an Infrastructure Funding Statement each year, by 31 
December. Infrastructure funding statements must cover the previous financial year, 
from 1 April to 31 March. As part of these new regulations, authorities are encouraged 
to include details of both S106 and CIL funding, where previously these have been set 
out in separate reports.

Hillingdon has spent all of its CIL funding, with nothing left to allocate.

Page 6



The Committee asked a number of questions, including:

The report lists funding of circa £600k for outdoor sports and play facilities. Who 
is responsible for determining where that money is spent?

These projects were determined through the Chrysalis programme, which responds to 
resident suggestions for projects. A large number of requests from residents relate to 
sports and play facilities.

The report did not indicate CIL monies were being spent on health facilities. Why 
was this?

On large-scale developments, planning officers were often requesting that the 
developers include room for health facilities. For example, the Old Vinyl site 
development would hopefully include room for a 900sqm health facility. However, for a 
variety of reasons, many of which were beyond planning’s ability to overcome, such 
developments often fell through, with not all planning developments reaching the 
finishing line.

How much were residents involved via consultation on how CIL/S106 monies 
were spent?

Residents were consulted on all planning applications where required. CIL money in 
particular was often used for improvements to the public realm. Highlights of completed 
projects were also set out in Hillingdon People. 

Councillor Sweeting referred to a request made at a previous Planning Committee 
meeting, for officers to provide additional detail of how CIL money was being spent 
within each ward. The Committee considered this request, and it was agreed that the 
clerk would review the nature of the request made at the earlier planning committee 
before feeding back to the Committee.

RESOLVED:

1. That the report be noted; and
2. That the clerk review the nature of the request made at the earlier planning 

committee before feeding back to the Committee.

68.    VERBAL UPDATE ON PROGRESS OF REVIEW INTO LITTERING AND FLY-
TIPPING  (Agenda Item 8)

The clerk provided Members with a verbal update on the progress of the Committee’s 
review into Littering and Fly-Tipping within Hillingdon.

It was confirmed that the majority of the suggested amendments to the draft 
recommendations presented at the previous meeting had been approved in principle, 
and revised draft recommendations would be forwarded to Members in the near future. 
The final report to Cabinet would include a section setting out the Committee’s detailed 
suggestions for how some of the recommendations could be implemented.

The Committee’s suggestion that the report and recommendations include further 
innovation and best practice, such as initiatives being undertaken at other local 
authorities, was being reviewed. If any such innovation was identified, further detail 
would be brought to a future meeting of the Committee.

Page 7



RESOLVED:  That the verbal update be noted.

69.    CABINET FORWARD PLAN  (Agenda Item 9)

Consideration was given the Cabinet Forward Plan.

It was requested that the clerk review whether the forthcoming item on Standards and 
Quality in Education would need to be rescheduled, in light of a report on the subject 
being due for consideration by Cabinet in April 2020.

RESOLVED:  

1. That the Cabinet Forward Plan be noted; and
2. That the clerk review the scheduling of the forthcoming item on Standards 

and Quality in Education.

70.    WORK PROGRAMME  (Agenda Item 10)

Consideration was given the Work Programme for forthcoming meetings. Several 
suggestions for new information items were discussed, including:

 A briefing note regarding the enforcement of parking management schemes;
 A report on the updated strategic plan for the Adult Learning service (potentially 

with a visit to the Brookfield site);
 An update on the Arts provision across the Borough (with potential expansion 

into an item on the investment into Heritage within the Borough);
 An item on the new Battle of Britain Bunker, including how successful it had 

been, financial information etc.
 An item on the provision of Sports facilities across the Borough (not limited to 

children);
 An item on mortuary services and relevant partnership working;
 An item on the local impact of HS2;
 The impact of capital expenditure on youth services;
 The impact of the reorganisation of children’s’ centres.

RESOLVED:  

1. That the Forward Plan be noted;
2. That the suggested items above be considered for inclusion on the Work 

Programme for future meetings.

The meeting, which commenced at 7.00 pm, closed at 8.50 pm.

These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Neil Fraser on 01895 250692. If you are attending the 
meeting, please enter via main reception and visit the security desk to sign-in and 
collect a visitors pass. You will then be directed to the Committee Room.  Circulation of 
these minutes is to Councillors, Officers, the Press and Members of the Public.

Page 8



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

STANDARDS AND QUALITY IN EDUCATION IN HILLINGDON 2018/2019

                               
 Committee name Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy 

Overview Committee

Officer reporting Dan Kennedy – Residents Services

Papers with report None

Ward All

 HEADLINES

This report provides the Committee with an overview of the standards and quality of education 
across Hillingdon schools and settings for Hillingdon’s children, young people and adults. The 
report focuses primarily on attainment, progress and achievement for the academic year 2018/19 
but also references wider measures of educational success. To support further improvement of 
standards in Hillingdon the report identifies specific areas for action with schools, settings and 
partners.

RECOMMENDATION
 
That the Committee note the key findings set out in the report, and provides comments 
for inclusion in the report to the Cabinet meeting in April 2020.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The main findings from the review of education performance in Hillingdon for the academic year 
2018/19 are that:

● Within the Early Years phase including private, voluntary and independent nursery settings 
and child-minder provision overall attainment has risen once again.  It should be noted that 
all early years settings in Hillingdon are judged by Ofsted to be ‘good’ or better, above the 
London average. The intervention and support provided by the Council in this phase has 
made a difference to achieving meaningful improvements in the service offered and better 
outcomes for residents.

● Within the primary phases, stable outcomes at both Key Stages mean that borough 
averages are either in-line or above the national level for all key measures.  Positive Key 
Stage 2 progress scores in Reading, Writing and Maths mean that, collectively, Hillingdon’s 
primary schools are adding more value to children’s learning than primary schools 
nationally, on average.  

● Within the secondary phase, Key Stage 4 outcomes and progress have both decreased 
slightly but still remain above national averages.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● At post-16 level, progress has been made, however Hillingdon continues to underperform 
with lower academic outcomes than national averages for this phase.

● Hillingdon's Ofsted inspection data demonstrates a decline in 2018/19 when compared 
with previous years with 88% of schools overall now judged good or better by the end of 
the 2018/19 academic year, compared to 91.3% of schools judged good or better 2017/18.

● The underperformance of some key groups of learners in Hillingdon continues to provide 
challenges to some settings in the borough. Effectively addressing the progress and 
outcomes for these vulnerable groups is an educational priority for the Council and all local 
education providers in 2019/20 and future years.

The remainder of the report provides further information about the outcomes achieved at the 
different education stages, for different groups and relating to Council services which support 
educational outcomes. The report contains additional appendices and data.  

Putting Our Residents First - Raising Standards in Education

● Putting residents first is central to the work of the Council. This includes fulfilling its duty to 
ensure that its statutory education functions are discharged with a view to promoting high 
standards; ensuring fair access to opportunity for education and learning, and promoting 
the fulfilment of learning potential for all learners.

● Within a landscape of significant national change in education the Council continues to 
recognise that access to the very best education opportunities in high-quality schools and 
settings will ensure that Hillingdon remains a popular and desirable place of choice for 
families.

● The Council continues to invest in education capacity and quality through the provision of 
school support and monitoring and the expansion of schools where needed to meet 
demand for school places across the primary and secondary sectors. The Council’s 
investment in new and modern education buildings and facilities continues to provide the 
high quality learning environment that children need in Hillingdon.

● The mixed economy of Council maintained and academy/free schools in the Borough 
mean that the Council acknowledges its dynamic but central role in securing the best 
outcomes for children and young people educated in the Borough. Working in partnership 
with autonomous school leaders, multi-academy trusts and other relevant responsible 
authorities, the Council continues to promote high standards for all learners and to 
challenge underperformance where this occurs, no matter where learners are educated.  
 

● The Council accepts that it has an important role to play in promoting high standards for 
all learners and, in particular, those children, young people and adults vulnerable to 
underachievement, including those with special educational needs and/or disabilities and 
those from disadvantaged backgrounds. In order to undertake this role effectively, the 
Council uses its resources to monitor, support, challenge, and intervene in schools where 
concerns arise. 

Page 10



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

It does this by:

● Collating and analysing the performance of all publicly funded schools in Hillingdon to 
identify those at risk and those in need of additional support or intervention.

● Monitoring and challenging the performance of individual schools for all pupils, specific 
groups of pupils and individual pupils. This includes reviewing and challenging school   
improvement plans, providing services to support the positive progress of children and 
young people, developing and securing expertise in schools and settings, monitoring 
personal educational plans for children looked after and intervening where schools or 
settings require improvement.

● Working effectively with services for vulnerable children both within the Council and beyond 
to access support swiftly where concerns are noted or where opportunities for learners are 
not good enough.

● Undertaking a strategic brokerage role to allow schools in need to access appropriate 
support from other schools and national organisations. 

● Where necessary, exercising formal powers of intervention against maintained schools or 
notifying the Regional Schools Commissioner of concerns in Academy schools in order to 
drive up standards..

● Working in partnership with Teaching Schools and multi-academy trusts in order to build 
capacity within the schools-led improvement community in Hillingdon.

Ofsted Inspections of Schools 

● During the academic year 2018/19 (ending on 31st August 2019), 29 schools in Hillingdon 
were inspected. Of these schools inspected, 2 of 29 demonstrated an improvement in final 
inspection judgements and moved from ‘Requiring Improvement’ to ‘Good’, 4 of 29 moved 
from ‘Good’ to ‘Outstanding’, whilst 18 of 29 retained their previous inspection judgements. 
5 of 29 schools inspected during this period received a downgraded judgement. 1 of these 
school’s is currently subject to intensive intervention by the Council's School Improvement 
Team.

● Overall inspection data for 2018/19 shows a steady year in school judgements. In total, 
88% of all schools judged 'Good' or better at the close of the academic year, which is 2% 
higher than the England average.

● The Council is working with the Regional Schools’ Commissioners Office to ensure that 
the 4 academy schools that were downgraded have school improvement support.  

Page 11



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Summary of Schools in Hillingdon by Ofsted Judgement

Data Set 1 - Table: Inspections LBH breakdown

Please note that schools without a current judgement are recorded as ‘good’ in comparative Local Authority 
statistics (3 schools).
Data Set 1 - Table: Final inspection overview 2018/19 (by 31st August 2019)    

Type of 
School

Number % 
Outstanding

No. 
Outstanding

%
Good

No.
Good

%
Requiring 

Improvement

No.
Requiring 

Improvement

% 
Inadequate

No. 
Inadequate

Primary 71 (2*) 18 13 75 53 7 5 0 0

Secondary 22 (1*) 32 7 45 10 23 5 0 0

Special 10 20 2 60 6 20 2 0 0

All 
Schools in 
Hillingdon

103 *3 
schools 
awaiting 

first 
inspection

21 22 67 69 12 12 0 0

Data Set 2 - Table: Inspection LBH verses England
2018-19 2017-18 2016-17

Judgement Hillingdon England Hillingdon England Hillingdon England

Schools Good or Better 88% 86% 91% 86% 87% 86%

Source: Ofsted inspection statistics November 2019 as of 31.08.19

Monitoring and Challenging the Performance of Individual Schools

● It is noted that the schools landscape in Hillingdon consists of 103 state-funded settings 
which include a mixture of Council maintained schools and other settings which have an 
alternative status - these settings including academies, non-maintained special schools 
and University Technical Colleges (UTCs)/studio colleges. For information, approximately 
30% of all primaries in Hillingdon are academies, with 70% remaining as maintained 
schools. In the secondary sector, 90% of all schools are academies with only 10% 
remaining as maintained settings. In the special school sector, 80% of schools are 
academies whilst 20% are maintained by the Council.  

● Legal duties and powers regarding school improvement intervention in underperforming 
schools where the Council is not the responsible body for standards or leadership (for 
example academies or other non-maintained schools etc.) lie with the Regional Schools’ 
Commissioner, acting on behalf of the Secretary of State. Councils retain responsibility for 
intervention in maintained settings where standards decline and all local authorities retain 
the overarching statutory duty regarding the promotion of high standards of education 
which includes regular interface with all stakeholders in a local area and the sharing of 
intelligence with national partners including Ofsted and the full range of Department for 
Education teams.

Page 12



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● 2018/19 was the fourth full academic year of implementation of the Hillingdon School 
Improvement Strategy (currently in its fifth year). An updated strategy is currently 
undergoing consultation by executive groups and then with all schools. This strategy is 
underpinned by partnership working and includes six central elements of monitoring, 
intervention and challenge within a broader framework of school-led improvement activity. 
This collaborative and school-driven approach ensures that school improvement activity in 
Hillingdon continues to mirror the national direction for school support and intervention, 
with a clear emphasis on the brokerage of support for underperforming schools from good 
and outstanding settings.

● The strategic plan includes specific guidance for schools around the responsibilities of the 
Council with regard to monitoring and intervening where schools are, or maybe, at risk of 
underperformance. This includes processes for the risk assessment of schools who are 
not securely good or where standards are declining and associated intervention by officers 
to accelerate the use of the Council's formal powers if required. The strategy outlines the 
role that the Council has in liaising with and supporting where necessary the bodies 
responsible for intervention in academy/free schools/UTCs and maintained schools which 
are judged to be ‘Inadequate’ by Ofsted.   

● During the academic year 2018/19, the Council’s Schools At Risk Register identified 18 
schools at risk of underperformance in Hillingdon (increased by 3 from the previous year). 
Of this number, 10 of the schools were maintained by the Council and, accordingly, were 
already in receipt of intensive monitoring, challenge and support by officers including the 
brokerage of support from within the local school improvement community to facilitate 
improvement. (It is noted that a higher proportion of maintained schools compared to 
academies are likely to feature on a Council Schools At Risk register since the level of 
intelligence that the Council has access to and which is used to assess risk tends to be 
greater where a school is a maintained setting. However, where the schools identified as 
being at risk were academies/free schools for whom the Local Authority is not the legally 
responsible body in terms of school improvement, the Council acted swiftly to highlight 
concerns to the Regional Schools Commissioner and other relevant authorities).

● During 2018/19 it was necessary for the Council to maintain or commence formal 
intervention action in four maintained schools where education standards were not 
considered to be improving rapidly enough. In one case, the Council has an Interim 
Executive Board in place to secure governance improvements. This approach resulted in 
meetings between senior officers and school leaders, intensive brokering of support from 
within the wider education community. The impact of challenge and support resulted in 
significant changes to leadership, management and governance in these schools.

● It should be noted that the Council’s School Improvement Team monitors the standards 
and quality of all schools in Hillingdon through termly analysis of published data, 
information gathered from Council services supporting children and families, Ofsted 
liaison, feedback from Hillingdon’s Regional Schools’ Commissioner’s office and DfE and, 
in the case of maintained schools only, through the provision of both annual Healthchecks 
and Pre-Inspection visits. The early identification of schools facing challenges in Hillingdon 
allows the Council to broker support for school leaders and governors from across the 
wider schools community and aims to prevent, halt and reverse a decline in standards for 
Hillingdon’s children and young people.
  

Page 13



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● In 2018/19 officers continued to work closely with the Hillingdon school-led Schools’ 
Strategic Partnership Board including the National and Local Leaders of Education and 
Teaching Schools in Hillingdon, to deliver a number of school improvement events and 
regular briefings to Head Teachers throughout the year. This approach ensured that the 
Council continued to fulfil its statutory duty with regard to acting as a champion of high 
standards of education for all young people in Hillingdon, whilst supporting the local 
education sector’s systems leaders by promoting access to their local school leadership 
improvement offer and highlighting expertise available from both Teaching Schools and 
central government.   

● Targeted projects were delivered to improve the outcomes of disadvantaged pupils and to 
support schools to go from ‘Good’ to ‘Outstanding’. The outcomes of these projects are 
being monitored with measurable impacts being available in the next academic year. 

● To build on partnership working, the School Improvement Service works in partnership with 
our Teaching Schools through the Hillingdon Local Education Area Partnership (LEAP). 
This new focus on robust and effective formal education improvement partnerships, within 
which the Council plays a critical role as a primary convener of area-specific improvement, 
will be a key feature of education improvement. 

An Overview of Educational Performance in Hillingdon 2018/19

Please note that, along with London and national comparisons, information about rankings refers 
to Hillingdon's performance against 10 DfE-identified statistical neighbours and, wherever 
possible, indicates either an upward or downward trend compared with the previous academic 
year. These neighbours are Coventry, Milton Keynes, Merton, Slough, Hounslow, Redbridge, 
Ealing, Barnet, Sutton and Reading. It is noted that Ofsted uses comparison with statistical 
neighbours to compare outcomes across local authorities.

Section 1:  Early Years & Foundation Stage Education

Private, Voluntary and Independent (PVI) Childcare Providers - Ofsted Outcomes
 

● The focus for 2018/19 in the Private, Voluntary and Independent (PVI) sector was to 
continue to ensure that settings were demonstrating effective quality outcomes on the 
revised Early Years Quality Team (EYQT) Quality Framework for the provision of effective 
teaching and learning in early Literacy with a focus on Phonics and Phonological 
awareness. All PVI settings received the quality framework observation and a tailor made 
support programme based upon the individual needs of each setting. A bespoke training 
course on Letters and Sounds was produced and delivered to all PVI settings.

● The Early Years Team in Hillingdon uses a RAG (red, amber, green) rating system to 
prioritise support for settings. The focus for 2018/19 was to support each ‘Amber’ and ‘Red’ 
rated settings in improving three central themes: Assessment and Planning, the Learning 
Environment and Adult and Child Interactions and Teaching, to ensure children are being 
supported to achieve the Early Learning Goals in Literacy and Mathematics as these 
remain the lowest scoring Goals both nationally and within Hillingdon.

Page 14



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● In addition, the team continued to provide the Continuous Quality Development Group for 
‘Green’ rated settings, which meets at least half termly. Settings in this group were visited 
by their linked Early Years Advisory Teacher to verify their self-evaluation and completion 
of the Quality Framework.

The following table demonstrates the percentage of Hillingdon's PVI Ofsted outcomes over the 
past three years in relation to national Ofsted data (published in Oct 2019).

Data Set 3 - Table: Ofsted 2018/19

Summary
(Good or better)

Outstanding Good Requires 
Improvement

Inadequate 

National LBH National LBH National LBH National LBH National LBH

2016/2017 96% 100% 21%* 16% 75%* 84% 4%* 0% 1%* 0%

2017/2018 91% 100% 28% 20.7% 63% 79.3% 6% 0% 3% 0%

2018/2019 96% 100% 23%* 21% 73%* 79% 2%* 0% 1%* 0%

 Source - latest Ofsted report 2019 statistics - As of August 2019

*Please note that national figures add up incorrectly - LBH cannot amend.

Hillingdon has 92 registered day care providers. 81 have a current Ofsted outcome and 11 are 
still awaiting their first inspection. The support provided to these settings has ensured that, within 
the PVI sector, Ofsted outcomes are above those achieved nationally and are all demonstrating 
quality improvement.
 

● The support delivered to PVI settings in Hillingdon ensures that children are school ready 
when they move into statutory education and are best placed to achieve the Good Level 
of Development at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage.

● The focus on assessment and planning and the specific tracking of cohort data has 
highlighted the need for PVIs to be supported to identify trends to ensure that disadvantage 
and gender gaps do not widen in this sector and therefore establish an inequality pattern 
for entry to Reception Year in school.

 
● The aim to ensure that every child in Hillingdon has a provision that is at least ‘good’ has 

now been met and the focus is now to increase the percentage of settings achieving an 
Outstanding grade.  Next steps include supporting all settings to be knowledgeable on the 
new Ofsted Inspection framework and to continue to increase our percentage of 
Outstanding settings.

Page 15



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Ofsted Childminder Outcomes

● Overall in Hillingdon there are 283 registered childminders. Of these, 181 are registered 
childminders with EYFS-aged children with a current Ofsted grade and 45 are newly 
registered childminders awaiting their first inspection. 57 childminders are registered but 
do not provide care or education to children within the EYFS.

● The percentages of childminders in Hillingdon judged ‘good’ or better by Ofsted was slightly 
below the national average in 2015/16. In order to bring Hillingdon in line with national 
expectations for the quality of childminding, in 2016/17 the Early Years Quality Team 
developed and implemented a targeted programme of quality improvement for 
childminders, led by an Early Years Advisory Teacher from the Council team. Measurable 
impact resulting from this quality improvement work was evident in subsequent years and 
this trend has continued in 2018/19. It is positive to note that overall Hillingdon’s children 
now have access to an overall quality of early education provision that is better than the 
national average. It is important that note however that we have had some childminder 
inspections for childminders that do not look after EYFS aged children that have been less 
positive and will require additional support if they wished to mind children in this phase of 
education.

● It was noted that 2017/18 we saw a small increase in the percentage of childminders 
judged ‘inadequate’ and this was a focus for improvement during 2018/19 and it is pleasing 
to see that this percentage has dropped and is now below national figures. 

● The focus for 2019/20 is to continue to support newly registered childminders to achieve 
at least a ‘good’ grading in their first inspection and to support all childminders to become 
familiar with the new Ofsted Education framework

         Data Set 4 - Table: Ofsted Outcomes from Childminder Inspections 2018/19

       Summary             
         (Good or better)

         Outstanding         Good         Requires 
         Improvement                                                                                                                         

       Inadequate  

National ,       LBH        National          LBH National         LBH National        LBH National        LBH

        2016/2017 93% 97% 15% 13%          78%         84%         6%        3%       1%                      0%

        2017/2018 94% 97.4% 16% 14.4%           78%         83%         5%         1%      1%                        1.6%

2018/201994%       95% 99% 17% 16.5 78% 82.5%   4%        0.5%      1% 0.5%

Source - latest Ofsted report 2019 statistics
 
Early Years Good Level of Development (GLD) 2018/19

The Good Level of Development is the national benchmark for children at the end of their 
Reception year. It is based upon children attaining at least the expected level in the three prime 

Page 16



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

areas of Communication and Language, Physical Development and Personal, Social and 
Emotional Development along with the Specific areas of Mathematics and Literacy.

● In 2018/19, 74.7% of Hillingdon Reception Year pupils achieved a Good Level of 
Development (GLD); this was above the national average of 71.8% and for the first time 
we have overtaken both all London and Outer London averages.

● Hillingdon ranked 3rd out of 11 statistical neighbours which is the same as 2017/18 
rankings.

● Hillingdon ranked 14th (out of 33) London local authorities, which is an improvement on 
2017/18 (18th)

● Hillingdon ranked 25th out of 153 national authorities, which is an improvement on 2017/18 
(40th)

● Hillingdon has increased the GLD at a greater rate than both National and London rates.

 Data Set 5 - Table: EYFSP (Early Years Foundation Stage Profile) 2017 to 2019
 Percentage of pupils attaining GLD

LBH National London All London Outer

  2017 73% 71% 73% 73%

  2018 73.6% 71.5% 73.8% 73.8%

  2019 74.7% 71.8% 74.1% 74.5%

  Difference to 2018 +1.1 +0.3 +0.3% +0.7%

Source – EYFSP 2019_Tables_Revised_28112019 (DfE)

Page 17



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 5 - Graph

Source – EYFSP 2019_Tables_Revised_28112019 (DfE)

Early Years Key Subjects Outcomes 2018/19

● Hillingdon is now above National outcomes for all of the Early Years areas of learning and 
development and is also now above London averages for all Subject areas.

● In 2017/18 children in Hillingdon underperformed against their peers across London in 
Literacy, Mathematics and Physical Development; the focus for the Early Years Quality 
team on raising standards in these underperforming areas has been successful. In 2018/19 
Hillingdon children now outperform their peers in Literacy by 3% Nationally and by 0.6% 
with London children. In Mathematics, Hillingdon children are above National Children by 
1.8% and above London by 0.4%. In Physical Development Hillingdon is 1.4% above 
National outcomes and 0.8% above London outcomes.

● In 2018/19 there has been a slight decline in the number of Hillingdon children achieving 
the Early Learning Goals (ELG’s) for Communication and Language and while Hillingdon 
is still outperforming children nationally and within London by around 2% this will be an 
area for consideration in 2019/20.

● Analysis of specific Early Learning Goals (ELGs) in 2018/19 shows that Hillingdon 
outperformed National and London outcomes in each of the 17 goals.  Notably strong 
performance was seen in four ELGs - Listening, Reading, Writing and Shape, Space and 
Measures within Mathematics. In Listening Hillingdon is 2.2% and 2.1% above National 
and London outcomes. In Reading, Hillingdon is 2.6% and 0.8% above National and 
London outcomes. In Writing Hillingdon is 3.0% and 0.6% above National and London 
outcomes. In Shape, Space and Measures Hillingdon is 2.1% and 1.5% above National 
and London outcomes.

Page 18



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● When comparing gender outcomes within Hillingdon’s Early Years education outcomes in 
2018/19, it is clear that girls in Hillingdon outperform boys in all areas of learning. A focus 
for 2018/19 was to close the gender gap and we have been successful in achieving this.  
The gender gap this year has closed by 2.6% from 14.3% to 11.7%. The gender difference 
gap Nationally is 12.9% and in London is 12.3%. Hillingdon’s gender differences in 
attainment are better than both National and London.

● Boys in Hillingdon are now significantly above boys nationally in all subject areas and also 
above boys in London in all key areas of the curriculum except in Number. Most notably, 
in Communication and Language, Personal, Social and Emotional development and 
Literacy. 
 

● Girls in Hillingdon are above girls nationally and within London in all of the prime areas of 
Learning and within both Mathematics and Literacy. Most notably girls in Hillingdon 
outperform all girls nationally and across London in Communication and Language and in 
Personal, Social and Emotional development.

● For children in Hillingdon that receive Free school Meals (FSM) the percentage of children 
that achieve the GLD is 63.4%, making the attainment gap in Hillingdon 11.3%, against all 
children. Nationally the attainment gap is 15.5%. 

● When comparing children that have English as an additional Language (EAL) with children 
whose first Language is English the attainment gap in achieving the GLD in Hillingdon is 
3%, with 76.9% of children with English as a first Language achieving the GLD and 73.9% 
of EAL children. Nationally this difference is a 7% gap. Hillingdon children with EAL 
outperform Children with EAL nationally by 7.3%.
 

 

Page 19



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

The following table summarises the performance (in percentages) across the seven key Early 
Years subjects. The figures in brackets denote the progress year on year from 2017 to 2019.
 

Hillingdon National LondonData Set 6 - Table: 
EYFSP

Subject
2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Communication & 
Language

84

 

85.5 

(+1.5)

84.2

(-1.3)

82.1 82.4 

(+1.3)

82.2

(-0.2)

82.6 83

(+0.4)

82.6

(-0.4)

Physical 
Development

88.4

 

88

(-0.4)

88.5

(+0.5)

87.5

 

87.4

(-0.1)

87.1

(-0.3)

88.2 88.3 

(+0.1)

87.7

(-0.6)

Personal Social & 
Emotional 
Development

86.7 87.3 

(+0.6)

87.2

(-0.1)

85.2 85.2

(-)

84.8

(-0.4)

85.7 85.7

(-)

85.1

(-0.6)

Literacy 75.2

 

75.6

(+0.4)

76.4

(+0.8)

72.8 73.3 

(+0.5)

73.4

(+0.1)

75.3 75.7 

(+0.4)

75.8

(+0.1)

Mathematics

 

79.2

 

80

(+0.8)

80.3

(+0.3)

77.9 78.3

(-1.6)

78.5

(+0.2)

79.7 80.1 

(+0.4)

79.9

(-0.2)

Understanding the 
World

84.2

 

86.3 

(+2.1)

85.4

(-0.9)

83.6 84 

(+0.4)

83.9

(-0.1)

83.8 84.2 

(+0.4)

83.6

(-0.6)

Arts/Design & 
Making

88.9

 

89.2 

(+0.3)

89.8

(+0.6)

86.7 87.2 

(+0.5)

87.2

(-)

87.8) 88.1 

(+0.3)

87.6

(-0.5)

Source - EYFSP 2019 Revised Tables (DfE)

Page 20



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Priorities for Early Years Education 2019/20:

● To maintain and build on improvements made during the past three years, targeting 
resources from within the Early Years Quality Improvement Team.

● To continue to support teachers and Early Years practitioners in making secure and 
consistent judgments against national standards through rigorous moderation, targeted 
support, networking opportunities and centralised training.

● To focus support and challenge for schools on Communication and Language and 
Mathematics and to continue a focus on Early Literacy.
 

● To continue to support all Early Years settings including PVIs, childminders and schools in 
providing effective and appropriate interventions based on learning needs for children 
eligible for the Early Years Pupil Premium in order to continue to narrow the disadvantage 
gap further.

  
● To provide detailed advice, support and training on the teaching of Communication and 

Language, Mathematics and Literacy and to ensure that presented learning environments 
are reflective of the learning needs of children both indoors and in using the outdoor 
learning spaces.

 
● To continue to support PVI settings in effective teaching of the Prime Areas of Learning 

and the core subjects of Maths and Literacy so that children who access their 30 hours in 
day-care make appropriate progress to begin their Reception Year at the level needed to 
attain their GLD and support their future learning. 
 

● To support settings that have reached a 'Good' Ofsted judgement to work towards 
‘Outstanding’ and to ensure that all providers including Childminders, PVI settings and 
schools are familiar with and ready for the new Ofsted Education Inspection.
 

● To support all sectors in preparation for a full revision of the EYFS Early Learning Goals 
and proposed changes to assessment and learning and development requirements.

 
● To continue to support the Council in developing sufficient places to provide funded two 

year old places in order to ensure all children in Hillingdon have the best start and are 
school ready.

Section 2:  Primary Phase Education

Key Stage 1

Phonics Outcomes in Hillingdon - Percentage of pupils achieving expected standard 

Achievement of the national Phonics standard by the end of Key Stage 1 indicates that a child 
has the phonetic skills to support wider literacy progress and provides a crucial foundation for 
attainment and progress later in primary school. 

● In Year 1 Phonics in 2018/19, once again, a greater proportion of Hillingdon's children 
achieved the expected standard than their peers nationally and the borough remains level 

Page 21



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

with the All London Year 1 Phonics attainment average. Overall Phonics achievement by 
the end of Year 2 has moved above national averages and is now in line with all London.

● In 2018/19, in relation to our statistical neighbours Hillingdon's Year 1 Phonics percentage 
is ranked 5th  of 11, unchanged on 2017/18.

● For Year 1 Phonics, Hillingdon ranked 14th out of 33 London local authorities, which is an 
improvement on 2017/18 (16th).

● Overall, Hillingdon’s Phonics outcomes at Year 1 ranked 21st out of 153 national 
authorities, which is an improvement on 2017/18 (26th).

● In terms of gaps in attainment for Year 1 Phonics, data shows that 76% of pupils eligible 
for Free School Meals (previous year 77%) attain the pass mark in comparison to 86.5% 
for all other pupils (was 86%).

● In terms of gender the gap has widened, 80% of boys attain the pass mark (previous year 
82%) in comparison to 89% of girls (previous year 87%).

●  In terms of SEN the gap has widened for EHCP but narrowed for SEN Support. 90.5% of 
‘NOTSEN’ pupils attain the pass mark (90% in 2018) in comparison to 21% of EHCP pupils 
(was 22%) and 65% of SEN Support pupils (was 61%).

● The highest performing groups of children in terms of Phonics attainment in Hillingdon are 
Asian (90% - no change from 2018), Black pupils (87.5% - was 87%) and pupils with 
English as an Additional Language (EAL) (87.5% - previously 87%), whilst White pupils 
tend to attain less well in comparison to the borough average (79.5% was 83% in 2018).

Page 22



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 7 - Table:  
Phonics % Achieved Standard

Region 2017
2018

2019

Hillingdon 83 (-) 85 (+2)
84 (-1)

National 81 (-) 82 (+1)
82

Year 1

London 84 (+1) 85 (+1)
84 (-1)

Hillingdon 93 (+2) 92 (-1)
92 (-)

National 92 (+1) 92 (-)
      91 (-1)

Cumulative by the end of   Year 2

London 92 (-) 93 (+1)
92 (-1)

Source – Phonics 2019 Tables (DfE)
Note - the difference in annual performance is shown in brackets. Figures shown are percentages.

Data Set 7 - Graph:  

Source - Phonics 2019 Tables (DfE)  *Note - Figures shown are percentages.

Page 23



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Key Stage 1 Outcomes in Hillingdon:  

In 2018/19 and as in previous years, by the end of Key Stage 1 pupils are expected to reach the 
national expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths and to achieve the expected standard 
in Phonics.

● Overall outcomes at Key Stage 1 for 2018/19 show that children in Hillingdon achieved the 
expected standard for each key area and for the combined result in line with the national 
average. Whilst attainment in Key Stage 1 in Hillingdon, therefore, remains satisfactory 
overall, it should be noted that this measure has improved less strongly than national and 
London for the combined subjects.  

● Outcomes at the higher standard for Reading, Writing and Maths are in line with the 
national average for each individual area, with a dip for the overall combined result. All 
subjects have dropped an average of 2 points. This demonstrates that Key Stage 1 
provision in Hillingdon needs to provide a different approach to stretch and challenge for 
more able pupils.  

● Beyond attainment only, detailed analysis of Key Stage 1 outcomes in 2018/19 shows that 
overall children in Hillingdon make broadly the same progress than their peers nationally. 
This is particularly highlighted for those learners with English as an Additional Language 
who make progress that is significantly better than most children nationally and in many 
other local authorities. However, some groups of learners make significantly less positive 
progress from their starting points. These groups include children from disadvantaged 
backgrounds and those with SEND. With regard to ethnicity, children from White first 
language English and Black Caribbean backgrounds made less progress than their peers 
from Early Years to Key Stage 1 in Hillingdon’s schools in 2018/19.  Improving the rates of 
progress for these groups, should remain key areas of focus for schools across the 
borough in 2019/20 and beyond.  

● With regard to gaps between key groups of pupils, the attainment gap between 
disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged children in Hillingdon has improved over the past 
three years. 

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS1 Reading attainment at the Expected Standard is ranked 7th 
of 11 in relation to statistical neighbours. This ranking is unchanged from 2017/18. Against 
National the ranking is 66th (down from 57th in 2017/18 and 45th the year before. Against 
London 27th (26th in 2017/18).

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS1 Writing attainment at the Expected Standard is ranked 7th 
of 11 statistical neighbours unchanged from 2017/18.  Rankings have improved against 
both National the ranking is 59th of 153 (72nd in 2017/18), also London, 25th of 33 (28th 
in 2017/18).

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS1 Maths attainment at the Expected Standard is ranked 6th of 
11 statistical neighbours which is down one place from the previous year. Against National 
the ranking is 29th of 153 (32nd in 2017/18). Against London 20th of 33 (18th in 2017/18).

Page 24



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 8 - Table:   
Key Stage 1

Percentage achieving 
standard

Hillingdon National London

Subject Level 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Expected 77 
(+2)

76 (-
1)

75 (-
1)

76 
(+2)

75 (-
1)

75 (-
1)

78
 (+1)

78
(-)

77 
(-1)

Reading
Higher 27 

(+4)
27 
(-)

25 (-
2)

25 
(+1)

26 
(+1)

25 (-
1)

27
 (+1)

29 
(+1)

28 
(-1)

Expected 70 
(+4)

70 
(-)

70 
(-)

68 
(+3)

70 
(+2)

69 (-
1)

72 
(+2)

73 
(+1)

73 
(-)

Writing
Higher 18 

(+5)
17 (-

1)
15 (-

2)
16 

(+3)
16 (-

)
15 (-

1)
18

 (+1)
19 

(+1)
18
(-1)

Expected 78 
(+3)

78 
(-)

78 
(-)

75 
(+2)

76 
(+1)

76
(-)

78 
(+1)

79
(+1)

78 
(-1)

Maths

Higher 24 
(+5)

25
(+1)

23 
(-2)

21 
(+3)

22 
(+1)

22 (-
)

24 
(+2)

25 
(+1)

27
(+2)

Expected 65.1
(+3.3)

66.2 
(+1.1)

64.7 (-
1.5)

63.7 
(+3.4)

65.3 
(+1.6)

64.6 (-
0.7)

67.7 
(+2.3)

69.5 
(+1.8)

68.6 (-
0.9)  

   RWM*
Higher 12.4 

(+4)
12.8 

(+0.4)
10.9 (-

1.9)
11 

(+2.1)
11.7 

(+0.7)
11.2 (-

0.5)
13.5 

(+1.8)
14.5
(+1)

14
(-0.5)

Source – KS1_Tables_2019 (nb does not cover RWM combined - provisional figures are from NCER NOVA 
reports)     *Reading, Writing and Maths. Pupils must pass all three subjects to attain this pass

Page 25



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 8 - Graph:  

Source - KS1_2019_LATables

Key Stage 2 

Key Stage 2 Outcomes and Progress in Hillingdon: 

Outcomes data at Key Stage 2 is published with reference to both attainment and progress. In 
broad terms, attainment measures the quantitative outcome of testing or teacher assessment, 
whilst progress indicates the value that a school has added to learners from their starting points.   
In recent years, progress data has become as significant as attainment data in terms of measuring 
school effectiveness.  

● Overall results for Hillingdon's children at Key Stage 2 at the end of 2018/19 were positive 
with the borough performing well against national averages for all key measures and for 
the combined Reading, Writing and Maths outcome. 

● Reading attainment in 2018/19 has declined. It improved last year however, that 
improvement has not been sustained. Last year’s improvement was linked with the impact 
of 2017/18’s targeted Reading and literacy improvement work across a group of identified 
schools who worked closely with the Council’s School Improvement Team following the 
publication of 2016/17 results. Targeted Reading initiatives continue to be required.

● Positive improvement is also noted once again in Writing which had been a previous area 
of concern at Key Stage 2. Hillingdon’s outcomes in this area are now securely above the 
national average and are closing the gap against the aspirational All London average, 
further demonstrating increased teacher confidence in the use of the assessment system 
and the impact of the Council's primary assessment and moderation improvement focus 

Page 26



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

over the past four years. This area has been positively supported by our Primary Teaching 
School. 

● The achievement of children at the Higher Standard in 2018/19 is stable and remains 
above national averages. However, in order for the most able young learners in Hillingdon 
to attain as highly as their peers across London, the focus on consistently strong rates of 
progress and attainment should remain a key focus for schools across the borough.

● Hillingdon's overall progress measures from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2 have improved in 
both Reading and Writing and stayed the same for Maths. This underlines the sector’s 
successful reversal of decline in Reading progress.   

● Detailed analysis of Key Stage 2 outcomes and progress show that children with English 
as an Additional Language continue to achieve and progress particularly well in Hillingdon 
but that those children whose first language is English and those of Black Caribbean 
heritage perform less strongly and make less positive progress, as do those disadvantaged 
or vulnerable including those with SEND. These groups of children  should remain a key 
area of focus for primary schools in Hillingdon during 2019/20 and beyond.  

● In 2019 girls achieved better progress scores than boys in Reading and Writing but this 
was reversed for Maths.

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS2 Reading attainment at the Expected Standard is ranked 9th 
of 11 in relation to statistical neighbours; this was 5th in 2017/18. 

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS2 Writing attainment at the Expected Standard is ranked 6th 
of 11 statistical neighbours which remains in line with the 2017/18 result.

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS2 Maths attainment at the Expected Standard is ranked 8th of 
11 statistical neighbours which remains in line with the 2017/18 result.

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's KS2 Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling (GPS) attainment at the 
Expected Standard is ranked 8th of 11 statistical neighbours compared to 7th in 2017/18.

● For 2018/19, Hillingdon's combined Reading, Writing and Maths at the Expected Standard 
is ranked 8th of 11 against our statistical neighbours which remains in line with the 2017/18 
result.

● In relation to London boroughs, Key Stage 2 combined RWM attainment is ranked 25th of 
33 (29th 2017/18).

● With reference to national rankings, Hillingdon’s Key Stage 2 RWM attainment is now 31st 
of 153 local authorities. (59th 2017/18).

● In terms of Progress Scores, Hillingdon ranked as follows in 2018/19 (with previous 
2017/18 positions in brackets for comparison purposes).

● Reading - statistical neighbours 9th of 11 (6th previously), London boroughs 26th of 33 (no 
change) and National 58th of 153 (61st previously).

Page 27



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● Writing - statistical neighbours 6th of 11 (8th in previous year), London boroughs 22nd of 
33 (28th in previous year) and National 53rd of 153 (70th previously)

● Maths - statistical neighbours 8th of 11 (6th previously), London boroughs 23rd of 33 (22nd 
previously) and National 28th of 153 (31st previously).

Key Stage 1 to 2 Progress Scores 2017 - 2019
 

                     Reading Writing Maths

   2017     2018   2019    2017    2018 2019   2017  2018   2019

 
Data Set 9 - 
Table: Key 
Stage 1 to 2 
Progress levels

     -0.3    +0.2     +0.3     +0.2     +0.2  +0.4          +1  +1.1 +1

Source - Key Stage 2 Local Authority tables (published 13/12/2019)  NB National progress is 0

Data Set 9a - Table:  : Key 
Stage 2 – 2017 to 2019

Hillingdon National London

Subject Level 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Expected 72 

(+2)

 

78  

(+6)

75.9

(-2.1)

72 

(+6)

 

76  

(+4)

73.7

(-2.3)

75 

(+6)

 

79  

(+4)

77.6

(-1.4)

Higher 24 

(+5)

 

29 

 (+5)

28

(-1)

25 

(+6)

 

28                 

(+3)

27.2

(-0.8)

27 

(+6)

 

31 

 (+4)

31.2

(+0.2)

 

 

 

 

 Reading

Average 
Scaled Score

104 

(+1)

 

105

 (+1)

104.8

(-0.2)

104

 (+1)

 

105 

(+1)

104.5

(-0.5)

105

 (+2)

 

106

 (+1)

105.5

(-0.5)

Page 28



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Expected 78

 (+6)

 

81  

(+3)

81.7

(+0.7)

77 

(+3)

 

79

  (+2)

78.8

(-0.2)
81 

(+5)

 

82

  (+1)

82.2

(+0.2)

 

 

 

Writing

Higher 18

 (+2)

 

21  

(+3)

22

(+1)

18 

(+3)

 

20 

 (+2)

20.2

(+0.2)

21

 (+4)

 

24  

(+3)

23.7

(-0.3)

Expected 80 

(+4)

 

78       

(-2)

82.9

(+4.9)

75 

(+5)

 

76

  (+1)

79

(+3)

81 

(+4)

 

81   

(-)

83.6

(+2.6)

Higher 29 

(+5)

31 

 (+3)

33.5

(+2.5)

23

 (+6)

 

24 

 (+1)

26.7

(+2.7)

30 

(+7)

 

31

  (+1)

34.6

(+3.6)

 

 

 

 

 

Maths

Average 
Scaled Score

106

 (+1)

 

106

   (-)

106.2

(+0.2)

104

 (+1)

 

104  

   (-)

105.1

(+1.1)

106 

(+2)

 

106  

(-)

106.6

(+0.6)

Expected 83 

(+3)

 

83 

   (-)

84.4

(+1.4)

78 

(+5)

 

78 

     (-)

78.4

(+0.4)

83 

(+4)

 

83

    (-)

83.9

(+0.9)

 

 

 

 

 

GPS*

Higher 40 

(+9)

 

45 

 (+5)

46.7

(+1.7)

31 

(+8)

 

35  

(+4)

35.8

(+0.8)

40 

(+11)

 

44  

(+4)

46.1

(+2.1)

Page 29



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Average 
Scaled Score

108 

(+2)

 

108     

(-)

108.5

(+0.5)

106

 (+2)

 

106      

(-)

106.4

(+0.4)

108

 (+3)

 

108      

(-)

108.4

(+0.4)

Expected 64 

(+9)

 

66 

 (+2)

69

(+3)

62 

(+9)

 

65  

(+3)

65

(-)

67 

(+10)

 

70  

(+3)

71

(+1)

 

RWM 
(Combined 

Result)

Higher 10 

(+3)

 

12 

 (+2)

12

(-)

9  

(+4)

 

10  

(+1)

11

(+1)

11 

(+4)

 

13

  (+2)

12

(-1)

Source - Key Stage 2 Revised tables (published 13/12/2019) Apart from Scaled Scores the figures shown are 
percentages. *GPS = Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling

Data Set 9 - Graph:  

Source - Key Stage 2 Local Authority tables (published 13/12/2019). NB figures for statistical neighbours are 
provisional. 

EXS+ in RWM = Expected Standard Plus in Reading Writing and Maths.

Page 30



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Priorities for Primary Phase Key Stages 1 & 2 Education 2019/20:

● Continue to work with the sector to promote the acceleration of progress and outcomes for 
underachieving groups in Hillingdon. This will include using our partnership approach to 
raise the awareness of all schools with regard to potential barriers to progress for these 
groups and signposting school leaders to sources of good practice, funding or support.  

● Focus on improving reading attainment overall, through enhanced links with providers of 
local literacy improvement support, including Teaching Schools and national organisations.

● Allocating School Improvement Team resource to work actively with maintained schools to 
ensure that the percentages of children attaining the higher standard in all subjects is 
consistent across the key areas in Hillingdon and matches London averages.

● Use the primary progress measures alongside attainment data to target school 
improvement resources, challenging the performance of schools whose progress scores 
are not yet in line with national averages for each key area and ensuring that governing 
bodies understand the significance of progress data for whole cohorts and individual 
groups.

● Work closely with LEAP and local providers to develop a strong partnership support and 
development offer for schools to access in order to ensure that overall standards of 
education in Hillingdon continue to rise and that improved outcomes over the past three 
years are maintained in the landscape of local and national school improvement change.  
Use emerging partnership structures to challenge schools within and beyond the 
maintained sector to further raise expectations and aspirations for children and young 
people in Hillingdon.

Section 3:  KS4 Secondary and Post-16 Education 2018/19

Key Stage 4 Outcomes in Hillingdon: Percentage of overall results including performance 
measures for progress and attainment 

● For 2018/19, secondary schools reported against the national Progress 8 measure for all 
schools which is calculated using the Attainment 8 scores of individual pupils; the standard 
and strong pass system within the 9 - 1 grades system for core subjects and the English 
Baccalaureate (Ebacc) measure.  

● Overall results at Key Stage 4 in Hillingdon’s secondary settings are stable in 2018/19 with 
each of the main performance measures outperforming national data for this sector.   

● Last year Hillingdon’s secondary schools made particular progress in securing a greater 
proportion of strong passes at 9 - 5 English and Maths and were within 1% of the 
aspirational All London average. This year there has been a slight decline and they are 
now 2.3% behind London.

● Overall Ebacc outcomes in Hillingdon's secondary schools continue to compare positively 
with the national average for this measure although this measure remains below the 
London average. 

Page 31



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● The Progress 8 score for the secondary sector, which is the key measure for evaluating 
the overall value that secondary schools add to learners from primary school to the end of 
Key Stage 4, has had a slight dip this year, and is slightly higher than the national average.  
This score demonstrates that, collectively, Hillingdon secondary schools add slightly more 
value to their pupils’ learning as secondary schools nationally. 

● Attainment 8 scores per pupil remain stable. Young people in Hillingdon attained results in 
2018/19 that were better than their peers nationally at Key Stage 4.

● Detailed analysis of Key Stage 4 outcomes shows that children with English as an 
Additional Language continue to achieve particularly well in Hillingdon and that girls also 
achieve well but that boys in general, those children whose first language is English and 
those of Black Caribbean heritage perform less strongly as do those disadvantaged or 
vulnerable including young people with SEND. Improving outcomes and progress for these 
groups should remain as a priority focus for secondary schools in Hillingdon during 
2018/19.  

● In addition, it is noted that overall progress in some subjects taken by significant numbers 
of learners in 2018/19 should be areas of development across secondary schools in 
Hillingdon. These include Spanish, Art and Design, Geography and DT Resistant 
Materials.

● With regard to young people facing disadvantage in Hillingdon, it continues to be the case 
that White boys especially have poorer outcomes and make less progress overall and that 
this is additionally affected by SEND status.

● In relation to our statistical neighbours Hillingdon is ranked 8th of 11 for standard passes in 
English and Maths (9 to 4), equal to 2017/18. We are now 9th of 11 for strong passes in 
English and Maths (9 to 5 - strong) down from 7th in 2017/18.  In terms of the Progress 8 
measure, Hillingdon was ranked 8th against statistical neighbours, which is unchanged 
from 2017/18.

● In 2018/19, for the standard pass measure, Hillingdon ranked 20th out of 32 London local 
authorities, equal to 2017/18. For strong passes Hillingdon now ranks 19th which is down 
from 17th in 2017/18. In terms of the Progress 8 measure, Hillingdon is ranked 22nd within 
32 London boroughs, compared to 19th the previous year.

● Within all local authorities nationally, Hillingdon’s standard pass outcomes for English and 
Maths now rank 42nd of 153 national authorities, an improvement on 48th in the 2017/18 
ranking. For strong passes Hillingdon is now 39th of 153, down from 34th the previous 
year.  

● In terms of the Progress 8 measure, Hillingdon is ranked 32nd of 153 national authorities 
in 2018/19, compared to 29th in 2017/18.

Page 32



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 10 - 
Table: Key Stage 4

Hillingdon National London

Subject 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

New from 2017: 9 
to 4 pass in 
English and 
Maths*

66.8 67 
(+0.2)

68
(+1)

64.2 64.4 
(+0.2)

64.9
(+0.5)

67.9 67.9 
(-)

68.7
(+0.8)

NEW from 2017: 9 
to 5 (strong) pass 
in English and 
Maths

45.3 47.7
(+2.4)

46.7
(-1)

42.9 43.5 
(+0.6)

43.4
(-0.1)

48.2 48.7 
(+0.5)

49
(+0.3)

New from 2017 = 
% EBacc 9-4 PASS

27.2 27.5 
(+0.3)

27.3
(-0.2)

23.9 24.2 
(+0.3)

25.1
(+0.9)

32 32.8 
(+0.8)

33.8
(+1)

NEW from 2017 % 
EBacc 9-5 Strong 
pass

24 18.7 (-
5.3)

19.7
(+1)

21.4 16.8 (-
4.6)

17.2
(+0.4)

28.8 23.4 (-
5.6)

24
(+0.6)

Average Progress 
8 score

0.14 0.15 
(+0.01)

0.11
(-0.04)

-0.03   -0.02
(+0.01)

-0.03
(-0.01)

0.22 0.02
(+0.01)

0.22
(+0.2)

Average 
attainment 8 score 
per pupil

47.1 47.8
(+0.7)

47.7
(-0.1)

46.4 46.6
(+0.2)

46.8
(+0.2)

48.9 49.4
(+0.5)

49.7
(+0.3)

*Prior to 2017 this was the equivalent of GCSE A*-C in English and Maths.  Ebacc 9 -4 includes passes in English 
and Maths
Source – 2019_KS4_Revised_Local_authority_data (Issued 06022020)

Page 33



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 10 - Graph:

Source – 2019_KS4_Revised_Local_authority_data

Priorities for Secondary Education Key Stage 4 2019/20:

● Supporting the two remaining LA Secondary Schools for which the LA retains responsibility 
for educational standards with a particular focus on progress scores for vulnerable or 
disadvantaged groups.

● Working with the wider secondary school sector, via established and emerging partnership 
groups, to address variations in progress scores, for all young people and, particularly, for 
those most at risk of underachievement including young people with SEND and their 
disadvantaged peers. This will include utilising appropriate challenge and support 
mechanisms and escalating concerns of unacceptable underperformance, where 
necessary, to the relevant responsible bodies. This includes the Regional Schools 
Commissioner and / or the Secretary of State for Education where improvements are not 
being expedited in academy settings.

Key Stage 5

Key Stage 5 Outcomes in Hillingdon

● In 2018/19, Hillingdon schools remain below the national and London average attainment 
levels for APS. However, Hillindon has made positive progress compared with national and 
London.

● In relation to the percentage of A level students achieving higher grades (AAB or better), 
in 2017/18 this decreased nationally, in London and in Hillingdon. However, in 2018/19 it 
increased in Hillingdon more significantly than elsewhere.  In addition, the proportion of 
Hillingdon students achieving the highest grades in 'facilitating' subjects  (i.e. those 
subjects recommended by Russell Group universities as most likely to lead to the widest 
range of options for degree level study) also improved. Data for 2018/19 shows an 

Page 34



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

improvement nationally and London-wide in the percentage of students achieving the 
highest grades at A level, but this improvement was better in Hillingdon.

Level 3 Students*

APS** Per Entry

Data Set 11 - 
Table 1: Key 
Stage 5 - 
covers state 
funded school 
students.

2017 2018 2019

England – state 
sector

33.23 32.2 
(-1.03)

32.78
(+0.58)

London 33.62 32.71 
(-0.91)

32.91
(+0.2)

Hillingdon 31.04 29.14 
(-1.9)

30 
(+0.86)

A Level Students

APS** Per Entry
Percentage of Students 
achieving Grades AAB or 
better at A Level

Percentage of students 
achieving Grades AAB or better 
at A Level, of which at least 2 
are in facilitating subjects.

Data Set 11 - 
Table 1a : Key 
Stage 5

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

England – 
state sector

32.39 32.25
(-0.14)

33.09
(+0.84)

20.7 19.7
(-1)

19.8 
(+0.1)

16
 

15.4
(-0.6)

15.6
(+0.2)

London 32.39 33.01
(+0.62)

33.39
(+0.38)

22.2 21
(-1.2)

20.7
(-0.3)

17.6 16.5
(-1.1)

16.9
(+0.4)

Hillingdon 29.34 29.33
(-0.01)

30.29
(+0.96)

15.9 12.3
(-3.6)

12.8 
(+0.5)

9.9 8.3
(-1.6)

10.1
(+1.8)

Source - NB Source = 2019 Revised LA and Regional Tables - 22012020 
* Level 3 is for students studying applied general and technical level qualifications **APS - Average Points Score

Page 35



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 11 - Table 1b: 
Key Stage 5 - covers state 
funded school students.

Level 3 Technical Level Students***

 APS** Per Entry  

 2017 2018 2019

England – state sector 38.47 31.49 32.32

London 38.18 30.61 30.95

Hillingdon 39.46 30.33 31.54

Data Set 11 - Table 1c:
Key Stage 5 - covers state 
funded school students.

Level 2 Students Vocational Qualifications****

 APS** Per Entry 

 2017 2018 2019

England – state sector 5.69 5.71 5.75

London 5.49 5.57 5.92

Hillingdon 5.6 5.71 5.9

*** Students at the end of Advanced level study who were entered for at least one Tech level Qualification during 
16 to 18 study.
**** Students at the end of 16 to 18 study who were entered for at least one Level 2 Vocational Qualification of size 
equivalent to at least 2 GCSE's.
NB Source = 2019 Revised LA and Regional Tables (DfE) - 22012020.
Priorities for Secondary Key Stage 5 Education 2019/20:

● To work with secondary Head Teachers to continue to improve borough-wide 
performance at Key Stage 5 A Level.

● To work with the leaders responsible for the quality of outcomes at this phase to work 
together effectively continue to improve outcomes for young people taking A Levels in 
Hillingdon.

● To monitor the impact of the work of the sector’s Hillingdon Key Stage 5 Development 
Group in improving outcomes at Key Stage 5, including outcomes for previous high 
attainers.

Page 36



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Section 4:  Outcomes for vulnerable children

Children Looked After (CLA) 

Following the success of the ILAC OFSTED Inspection in May 2018, which highlighted and 
praised the Virtual School for the considerable progress made to narrow the attainment gap and 
improve educational outcomes for Hillingdon Children Looked After, considerable work has been 
undertaken during the 2018/19 academic year to sustain and build on the successes. 

This has been enabled and supported by an increase of 2 FTE, providing the capacity and 
expertise to discharge duties linked to Post CLA and manage the increase in complexity of 
casework. 

This report evidences the impact of work over the 2018/19 academic year in relation  to attainment 
and progress of CLA, but also outlines the challenges faced and the focus of Virtual School work 
and the identified priorities to address them. 

Hillingdon Virtual School continues to actively monitor, support and advocate for its complex and 
varied Children Looked After (CLA) population and this work has contributed to many positive 
outcomes, which are not always recognised or reflected in the national statistics but are evident 
throughout this report. Although outcomes for Hillingdon CLA who have been in continuous care 
for 12 months or more fluctuate year on year and are highly dependent on the makeup of the 
cohort, progress over time has been evident particularly at KS4 with CLA outperforming national 
and outer London CLA headline measures, in addition to exceeding local targets. This said it is 
important to reflect that in the case of the year 11 cohort those who contribute to the national 
statistics are only 41 percent of the total cohort within that year group. The remaining young 
people, a large percentage of which are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC), still 
need to be supported and in many cases are the most challenging with no education provision in 
place when they enter the care system. These learners go on to make considerable progress, 
achieving at a level appropriate to their starting point and are successfully supported into suitable 
courses post 16.

Children Looked After Attainment and Progress Summary 2018/19

In respect of the reported statistics for Hillingdon, CLA nationally and the London region by the 
DfE in the SFR, it is important to recognise that these are based on the ability of NCER to match 
SSD903 CLA data and NPD attainment data. Due to issues with this matching, which often omits 
CLA with complex SEND, who consequently do not sit end of KS examinations, those who move 
to locations which do not follow the English education system and independent setting who have 
different reporting mechanisms, there may be differences in the statistics reported nationally and 
by the Virtual School in this report.

● The eligible Year 6 cohort that contributes to the national indicators for attainment at the 
end of KS2 consisted of 9 CLA. The attainment of the cohort in relation to those who 
obtained age related expectation or above in reading, writing, spelling, punctuation and 
grammar and maths at the end of KS2 was 67%, 78%, 67% and 78% Targets of 55%, 
33%, 44% and 55% in reading, writing, SPaG and maths were set strictly based on their 
KS1 results and pleasingly were exceeded in all areas. 

Page 37



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

 
● 67% of the cohort achieved expected attainment in reading, writing and maths, compared 

to the local target of 44% with none achieving at a higher standard across the 3 subjects. 
Although it is worth noting that 1 young person met the higher standard in 2 of the 3 
subjects and a further young person met the higher standard in 1 of the 3 subjects. In 
relation to progress the VS school recorded reading progress of +2.5, writing progress of 
1.38 and maths progress of 1.13 based on the mean average of its KS2 CLA progress 
scores in the respective subject.  

● The national/London comparisons for CLA for 2019 are yet to be released, but to provide 
a benchmark, 35% of CLA reached the new expected standard or above in the headline 
measure reading, writing and mathematics in 2018.

Data Set 12 - Table:
CLA Key Stage 2 Reading Writing SPaG Maths RWM*

Hillingdon VS 2018 50 50 62 50 50
Hillingdon SFR 
2018 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Outer London SFR 
2018

60 54 55 54 4189                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

National SFR 2018 51 49 50 47 35
Hillingdon VS 2019 67 78 67 78 67

Source - Hillingdon Virtual School CLA Key Stage 2 data 2018/2019 and SFR 20/2019 April 2019 Outcomes for 
children looked after by local authorities in England, 31 March 2018
Figures shown are percentages.
*Reading, Writing & Maths Combined (pupils must achieve all 3 elements)

● Attainment at the end of Key Stage 4 showed Hillingdon's eligible CLA (25) exceeding the 
local Attainment 8 target of 16.02 and the Progress 8 target of -2. These results are a 
considerable achievement and success when you consider the characteristics of the 
cohort. It is also worth noting a further 10 young people (40%) achieved grade 4 or above 
in either English or Maths, or both.

● The cohort totalled 25 young people, of which only 17 sat one or more GCSEs. Of the eight 
who did not sit GCSEs, 1 had complex health needs, four were considered inappropriate 
for GCSE due to their SEN and 3 young people had a complex school and placement 
history which lead to non engagement in education during their final year of statutory 
schooling. Consequently none of these eight young people were able to contribute 
positively to our statistics, despite having to be included within them. 

● In terms of CLA context, 7 (28%) are UASC and have English as an additional language 
and 9 (36%) have an EHCP. 64% of the cohort were living in residential placements or 
semi independent living. 14 (56%) had placement changes in KS4, with 9 resulting in a 
change of school. In addition to this, it is worth noting that of the 25 young people in this 
cohort, only 18 hold Key Stage 2 data from which accurate progress can be measured.

The information below outlines KS4 achievement in 2019 against the new headline measure for 
this cohort of 25 CLA as reported by the Hillingdon Virtual School, these are benchmarked against 
available SFR 2018 national CLA statistics and the statistics reported by the Virtual School in 
2018.

Page 38



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Hillingdon VS
 (23 CLA)

Hillingdon VS
 (25 CLA)

Data Set 13 - Table:
Children Looked After- Key 
Stage 4

National 2018
SFR

2018 2019
Average Attainment 8 score

18.8 22.71 21.24
Average Progress 8 score

-1.2 -0.947 -1.39
NEW from 2018: 9 to 5 (strong) 
pass in English and Maths 7.8 9 12
Percentage of pupils entered 
for EBacc 8.3 17 12
New from 2018: Average EBacc 
point score 1.47 0 0.67
Percentage of students staying 
in education or employment 
after Key Stage 4

not available 91 92

Source - Hillingdon Virtual School CLA Key Stage 4 data 2018/2019 and SFR 20/2019 April 2019 Outcomes for 
children looked after by local authorities in England, 31 March 2018

● In Hillingdon, school attendance for children of statutory school age continues to be high 
on our agenda, although the direction of travel is positive. Average attendance of statutory 
school age CLA improved to 92.08% (0.24% missing marks) in 2018/19 from 90.58% in 
2017/18. Absence rates for Children Looked After nationally were 4.3% in 2017 and 4.5% 
in 2018, data for 2019 is yet to be released. However, this figure is computed on CLA in 
England for at least 12 months as at 31st March 2018, whereas the Hillingdon figure 
(7.68%) is for all our Children Looked After of statutory school age, no matter how long 
they have been in care. When reviewing data for the 61 children and young people who 
were in care for less than 12 months (e.g. Entered care within the academic school year 
2018/2019), 34% (21/61) of these young people already had an established attendance 
record of below 90%. Through collaborative efforts with schools, social workers and carers, 
we saw improvements in attendance (some significant) for 80% (17/21) of this group. 

● When considering the breakdown of our absences, the figure of 7.68% is represented by 
4.37% authorised absence and 3.31% unauthorised absence compared to 3.2% and 1.3% 
nationally for the Children Looked After cohort respectively (data from 2018). Generally 
absences in Hillingdon have reduced from 9.42% to 7.68%. We have seen a fall in 
authorised absences from 5.68% to 4.37%, but a rise in unauthorised absences from 
2.86% to 3.31%.

● A high proportion of the persistent absentees are in KS4, where attendance continues to 
be impacted by a variety of other factors namely length of time in care, mental health, 
school/placement type and school/placement changes. Significant work continues to be 
undertaken by the team to address these issues in conjunction with social care colleagues 
and schools.

Priorities for Children Looked After in Hillingdon 2019/20:

● To maintain age related expectation attainment at KS2 and 4 and to improve outcomes at 
KS1. To maximise progress at KS2 and 5 and for those children with SEN.

Page 39



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● To improve engagement of professionals with the personal education plan process. 

● To ensure that all Children Looked After have an education provision appropriate to their 
needs, through closer working with admissions departments and development of an 
alternative provision directory.

● To improve the average attendance of Hillingdon statutory school age and Post 16 CLA 
through scrutiny of data to identify trends. Information to be used to improve the 
programme for focus group meetings and to effectively deploy the behaviour consultant to 
work with young people in schools and residential units to improve attendance. 

● To reduce the number of fixed term exclusions and school days lost as a result of exclusion.

● To use data analysis and learning from PP+ evaluations to inform PEP targets and PP+ 
allocation, holding schools to greater account for funding received in order to improve 
outcomes for specific cohorts including UASC/SEN support.

● To develop resilience, confidence and independence of Children Looked After through the 
development of an attachment aware audit tool for use with DTs and a comprehensive 
training offer to all professionals supporting young people.  

● To develop the Hillingdon Virtual School offer to Post LAC and 18+ care leavers.

Special Education Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) 

● Since 2013/14, Hillingdon, along with all Local Authorities across the country, has been 
working with schools to manage the transition to the new SEN Code of Practice. A key 
element of this work has been focused on the replacement of the SEN Statement with the 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and the categorisation of all other children and 
young people with SEND as SEN Support. When interpreting data for children and young 
people with SEND it should be noted that progress from year to year will always depend 
on the specific needs of individual children and the marked variations in cohort profile.  

● For children and young people with SEND, there are now only two recognised levels of 
support; SEN Support and EHCPs, however the Council recognise that an effective 
educational programme for children with SEND requires the expertise of a team of 
professionals working together in a meaningful, coordinated manner alongside the 
parents/carers and where appropriate the child/young person themselves.

● In September 2019 the SEND Advisory Service (SAS) was transformed into a 
multidisciplinary service with a wealth of expertise that provides a third tier of support for 
children and young people with SEND.

● The SEND Advisory Service consists of Early Years, Autism, Language and Principal 
SEND Advisors, Key workers, Hearing, Visual Impairment and Multisensory specialists.  

● A vital role within the service is for practitioners to provide support, guidance and 
appropriate challenge to schools and educational settings in relation to provision required 
for meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND.  

Page 40



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● The Council's SEND & Inclusion Service (which consists of the SEND Advisory Service, 
the SEND Team, the Educational Psychology Service, the SEND Information and Support 
Service) are the council teams that work most closely with schools and the council's School 
Improvement Team to address concerns regarding the progress and outcomes of children 
and young people with SEND in Hillingdon's schools. 

● Closing the gaps in outcomes and progress for vulnerable children and young people is 
key to ensuring high standards of education in Hillingdon's schools and the Council 
recognises that outcomes for children and young people with SEND are not yet 
consistently strong in all schools or across all phases. 

● The role of the Principal SEND Advisor is paramount, they will work alongside the Council’s 
School Improvement Team, carrying out SEND Reviews that follow the NASEN (National 
Association for Special Educational needs) framework in order to evaluate its provision for 
children and young people with SEND. This includes Early Years, mainstream schools, 
alternative provisions and specialist settings.   

● 2018/19 data for SEND students within Hillingdon at KS1 indicates that at SEN support, 
performance has improved substantially. Reading has improved by 4.9% and the gap with 
non SEND children has narrowed by 6.5%. In Maths, performance for this cohort has 
improved by 6% on 2017/18 and the gap has narrowed by a considerable 8.2% between 
these students and their non SEND peers. In Writing performance is up by 4.7% and the 
gap between non SEND students has narrowed for the second consecutive year (by 5.9%). 
For children with EHCPs in KS1, performance has improved slightly in all 3 areas (Reading 
by 0.4%, Writing by 2.1% and Maths by 2.4%) and the gap with non SEND peers has 
narrowed with the national average where it had widened in 2017/18. For Reading we now 
trail the national gap by 0.4% (was 1%), Maths by 2% (was 4%) and in Writing we have 
turned a 2% deficit into a positive of 0.5%.

● At KS2 for 2018/19 there have been positive improvements within both SEN Support and 
EHCP cohorts for the Reading, Writing and Maths combined measure (RWM). Pupils at 
SEN Support have performed better than in 2017/18 (3% increase). They are also 
performing better than National SEN Support pupils - increasing the gap from 1% to 2.1%. 
For children with EHCPs performance has improved by 1.7% on 2017/18 and the gap with 
NotSEN pupils (64.4%) is now better than the National equivalent (65%).  

● 2018/19 KS4 performance for both SEN groups has improved on 2017/18 (see Table 15). 
SEN Support pupils have closed the gap with our NotSEN pupils for both Standard and 
Strong English and Maths passes and EBacc Standard passes, although the gap has 
widened slightly for EBacc Strong. They remain behind the National Gap but are closing 
in for all areas bar English and Maths Strong Pass. For EHCP pupils the gaps for English 
and Maths Standard and Strong and EBacc Standard continue to narrow slightly against 
NotSEN pupils. However Progress 8 and EBacc Strong have widened slightly. Although 
behind the National Gap, the gap has closed in slightly for all measures bar EBacc Strong.

● Analysis of SEND needs in Hillingdon in 2017/18 shows that Communication and 
Interaction needs including autism and speech and language difficulties continue to be the 
most prevalent areas of need across the Borough with a higher proportion of young people 
with SEND displaying needs within the Social, Emotional and Mental Health area of need 
as they move into secondary education. 

Page 41



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Percentages of attainment for children with SEND

Data Set 14 - Table:                               SEN Key Stage 1 2019

Individual Scores for Reading, Writing and Maths

Actual results for expected standard

Reading Writing Maths

 

 

Hillingdon 
Pupils

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Not SEN 
(3449)

85 84 82.4 78 79 77.8 86 87 84.8

SEN Support 
(489)

42 37 41.9 25 28 32.7 43 43 49

LBH gap 
between Not 
SEN and SEN 
Support

43 47  40.5 53 51 45.1 43 44  35.8

National gap 
between Not 
SEN and SEN 
Support

50 52  50.4 54 54 53.9 48 48  46.3

EHCP & 
Statemented 
(132)

14 11  11.4 9 7 9.1 12 12  14.4

LBH gap 
between Not 
SEN and 

71 73  71 69 72   68.7 74 75 70.4

Page 42



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

EHCP & 
Statemented

National gap 
between Not 
SEN and 
EHCP & 
Statemented

70 72    70.4 68 70 69.3 69 71  68.4

Source – NCER Gap Report 2019

 Data Set 15 - Table 1:                                 SEN Key Stage 2 2019

RWM Combined results

Actual results for Expected Standard

Hillingdon Pupils

2017 2018 2019

Not SEN (3298) 72 75 76.1

SEN SUPPORT (480) 24 26 29.2

LBH gap between Not SEN and 
SEN Support

48 49 46.9

National gap between Not SEN 
and SEN Support

50 50 49

EHCP & Statemented (171) 6 10 11.7

LBH gap between Not SEN and 
EHCP & Statemented

66 65 64.4

Page 43



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

National gap between Not SEN 
and EHCP & Statemented

63 65 65

Source - NCER Gap Report 2019

Data Set 15 - Table 1a:                               SEN Key Stage 2 2019

Individual Scores for Reading, Writing and Maths

Actual results for expected standard

Reading Writing (TA)* Maths

 

 

Hillingdon 
Pupils

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Not SEN 
(3256)

79.7 84.7 83.2 86.9 89.9 90.1 86.9 85.8 90.5

SEN Support 
(476)

37.7 50.2 44.7 38.7 43.4 46.6 47.9 48.4 51.8

LBH gap 
between Not 
SEN and SEN 
Support

42 34.5 38.5 48.2 46.5 44.5 39 37.4 38.7

National gap 
between Not 
SEN and SEN 
Support

43.4 41.1 41.2 53.7 51.4 50.3 43.6 42.8 41.5

EHCP & 
Statemented 
(158)

12.8 17.2 20.9 9.6 14.7 16.5 19.2 22.1 24.1

Page 44



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

LBH gap 
between Not 
SEN and 
EHCP & 
Statemented

66.9 67.5 62.3 77.3 75.2 73.6 67.7 63.7 66.4

National gap 
between Not 
SEN and 
EHCP & 
Statemented

65.5 67.4 65.5 74.1 75.4 75.2 68.4 68.9 70.6

Source - NCER Gap Report 2019

*TA = Teacher Assessment

SEN Key Stage 4 2019

English and Maths PASS Average 
Progress 8 

score

%EBacc**

      TData Set 16        
16      - Table:

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

Hillingdon 
Pupils

Standard 
9* to 4

Strong 
9* to 5

Standard 
9* to 4

Strong 
9* to 5

Standard 
9* to 4

Strong 
9* to 5

Standard 
9* to 4

Strong    
9* to 5

Not SEN 73.9 53.2 75.2 52.8 0.25 0.24 31.3 21.3 31.5 22.8

SEN 
Support

29 15.2 34.9 16.3 -0.25 -0.36 5.2 3.2 6 3.7

LBH Gap 
between not 
SEN & SEN 
Support

44.9 38 40.3 36.5 -0.5 -0.6 26.1 18.1 25.5 19.1

National gap 
between Not 
SEN & SEN 
Support

39.5 42 39 31.6 -0.51 -0.51 21.1 15.2 21.6 15.4

EHCP 11.3 7.8 15.3 8.4 -1.08 -1.12 1.7 0.9 2.3 1.5

LBH Gap 
between Not 
SEN & 

62.6 45.4 59.9 44.4 -1.33 -1.36 29.6 20.4 29.2 21.3

Page 45



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

EHCP

National gap 
between Not 
SEN & 
EHCP

60.4 42.2 60.2 42.9 -1.17 -1.25 25.8 18.1 26.5 18.4

Source - 2019 LA Characteristics Table KS4 06022020
** English Baccalaureate

SEND Transformation

The entire SEND Service within the Local Authority has just completed a full restructure, aligned 
under three core functions to support and serve an integrated and tiered pathway. This is 
designed to positively manage demand through a co-ordinated and structured early intervention 
offer, alongside maintaining and enhancing the way in which the Authority secures our statutory 
responsibilities. The core functions that exist within the SEND Service are:

SEND Advisory Service - created by integrating elements of the existing Inclusion Team, Early 
Support Team and Sensory Intervention Team. This newly established service will work closely 
with the Educational Psychology Service.

Educational Psychology (EP) Service - maintaining the statutory delivery in relation to EHC needs 
assessments whilst refreshing and extending the traded offer to schools. This service will work 
closely with the SEND Advisory Service.

SEND Casework Team - the existing SEND Team has been restructured to create additional 
capability and capacity to meet the requirements of the proposed new ways of working. Roles 
have been enhanced to provide greater advice and guidance to schools pre and post-statutory 
thresholds for EHCPs and officers will adopt a more in-reaching approach.

The change is underpinned by implementing and embedding a new operating model across the 
service area. It is expected that all delivery moving forward will service a tiered pathway of support 
for children and young people with SEND. The pathway provides 3 tiers of support:

- SEN Support

- Early Support Funding (via a ‘My Support Plan’)

- Education, Health and Care Plans. 

The pathway reinforces the requirement for a graduated approach to supporting all children and 
young people with SEND and will be embedded across the local area. The tiered approach is 
expected to allow mainstream schools to have greater autonomy over how they utilise resources 
and support services, as well as having more timely access to funding for SEN, without the 
requirement to have an ECHP. 

Benefits of the new service transformation include:
1. Early identification of SEND and targeted interventions result in positive outcomes for children 
and young people (CYP) and reduce the demand on statutory services.  Offering an EP Service 
beyond the statutory obligations, contributes to a strong SEN approach across the borough with 
clear strategic oversight to inform and enable forecasting and measuring of impact.

Page 46



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

2. Reduced duplication of professional assessment will provide greater practitioner capacity within 
the SEND Advisory Service, the EP Service and the SEND Team to enable teams to provide 
greater focus on complex cases, particularly high cost, out of borough placements.

3. A sustainable EP Service that can provide a core offer, including training for schools and the 
parent community, can; ensure key messages are disseminated, that there is a wider 
understanding of effective systems and approaches, appropriate SEN Support strategies are 
implemented consistently and reduce the perception that support can only be provided through 
an EHCP.

4. Within the extended remit of the SEN Officers, they will be providing advice, guidance and 
monitoring in relation to schools’ use of their notional SEN budget (for 2019/20 this equates to 
£11,635k). This will ensure schools are using their resources adequately and effectively before 
making requests for additional High Needs funding through either Extra Support Funding or 
EHCPs.

5. Collaboration and joint working between the EP Service and SEND Advisory Service develops 
a clear SEND approach that works to collective outcomes, sharing good practice across the 
community of schools, advocating effective local provision for Hillingdon CYP and reduce the 
need for expensive out of borough educational placements.

6. Improved co-production and engagement with the parent and young person during the 
pathway, fostering improved relationships with key stakeholders and improving the quality of 
outcomes. In addition this will manage expectations and reduce the spend and costs associated 
with appeals/ challenges to decisions.

7. The new tiered pathway approach to supporting children and young people with SEND will be 
well publicised and this innovative approach to meeting the needs of children and young people 
with SEND will increase the Council's ability to attract and retain high quality staff. 

8. Improved rates of deadline compliance and the greater capacity for high quality casework within 
the SEND Team will reduce the rate of Mediation and Tribunal Appeals. It is targeted that 
compliance with the statutory 20 week deadline for processing EHCPs will increase to 85% 
(above the National average of 64%) through effective use of advance planning and SEN Officer 
skill and capacity. Up to 30% of cases should be able to be finalised within 16 weeks improving 
parental and school satisfaction.

Priorities for Children with SEND in Hillingdon 2019/20:

Strategies priorities for the SEND & Inclusion Service for the coming year  include: 

● The launch of key guidance documents, frameworks and services to support education 
settings, including; Ordinarily Available Provision, the SEND Advisor Service (SAS) Panel, 
Early Support Funding and the Centralised Training Offer 

● Review of the existing governance structure and refresh of the SEND Strategy  

● Development of a SEND Local Area self evaluation form (SEF) and data dashboard to 
monitor and evaluate performance of the area’s ability to identify, assess and improve 
outcomes for children and young people with SEND 

Page 47



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● Re-establish and strengthen partnership working with wider stakeholders (including 
parents/carers, young people, social care colleagues, health colleagues, education 
settings, voluntary sector, etc) 

● Ensure that best value for money is being demonstrated through the use of the High Needs 
Block funding 

● Develop a SEND Sufficiency Strategy to understand and meet local need 

● Continue to build a culture of inclusion within mainstream settings to meet the needs of 
children and young people with SEND 

SAS headline priorities 
● In September 2019 there were 9 vacant posts within the service, by April 2020 all vacant 

posts will be filled. 
● Support settings to embed Hillingdon’s Ordinarily Available Provision at an individual and 

whole setting level.

● Development of a multi-disciplinary panel for referrals and funding applications
○ By April 2020 100% of SAS referrals and Early Support Funding (ESF) applications 

will be presented at the SAS Panel. 
○ 80% of SAS Panels (July 2020) will include key staff from other service areas within 

the Local Authority, schools and educational settings across the borough. 

● We will see an increase in the number of children and young people accessing ESF:
○ March 2020: 94 children and young people accessing ESF

● Further develop the ‘My Support Plan’ ensuring that it is robust and user friendly. 

● From April 2020 80% of children and young people in receipt of ESF will have a ’My 
Support Plan’ (MSP) in place. This figure will increase as we continue to raise the profile 
of MSPs and ESF.

● Establish a tiered offer of support (Red, Amber, Green) at an individual, parental and whole 
setting level, giving practitioners a clear framework that encourages consistency at all 
levels and ultimately builds stakeholder confidence in the quality of our service.

○ Further embed the SCERTs programme for complex children and young people 
through our tiered offer.

● Complete the piloting of the SEND Review framework, raising its profile by working closely 
with the School Improvement Team and ensuring sustainable change through the 
implementation of the Inclusion Commitment.

○ It is hoped that 7 SEND Reviews will be carried out each term within the 1st year, 
raising to 10 per term in the 2nd year.

● Develop a clear EY’s pathway to support the early identification of needs and the
coordination of support to children with SEND in the early years. 

● Gather and share evidence on what is working well and use this data to improve the SAS.

Page 48



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

EPS headline priorities 
● Increase the number of Hillingdon schools purchasing traded EP support. Target (based 

on 97 schools in Hillingdon):
○ Sep 2019: 34 (35%)
○ April 2020: 49 (50%)
○ Sep 2020: 63 (65%)
○ April 2021: 68 (70%)

● Improve EPS adherence to statutory timeframes for psychological advice to a minimum 
of 90% (Q4 2018 / 2019 = 33%). Target: 

○ Q2 2019 / 2020 - 60%
○ Q3 2019 / 2020 - 75%
○ Q4 2019 / 2020 - 90%

● Provide a ‘central EP core’ offer (additional to meeting statutory demands) that is key 
component of a high quality EP Service (e.g. critical incident support to schools, central 
training offer, parental engagement opportunities, involvement with Early Years Providers).

● Introduce key quality assurance systems to ensure that evaluating the standards of EP 
Service delivery and written advice (and measuring impact of service) is embedded in 
‘everyday’ practice.

● Introduce and maintain effective Stakeholder Feedback mechanisms covering interaction 
& touch points with all key stakeholders including (but not limited to) Children & Young 
People, Families, Schools, FE Colleges, Children's Centres & PVIs

SEND headline priorities 

● Establish permanent SEND Team including the recruitment of vacant posts- by April 2020. 

● Improve engagement and communication with CYP  as well as with educational settings, 
social care and health colleagues by introducing co-production meetings and Planning 
Meetings with schools- by September 2020.

● Increase the number of EHCPs issued within statutory timescales to 80% or more -by 
September 2020.

● Improve the transition process at all Key Stage transfers for pupils with EHCPs by 
implementing an allocation Panel in Autumn term to identify children’s needs and 
appropriate provision.

● Improve inclusion of CYP with an EHCP by reviewing consultation process to ensure more 
children with EHCPs are educated in local settings, mainstream schools and that there are 
less permanent exclusions.

● Work with educational settings to ensure Annual Review are robust and cohesive in line 
with statutory compliance.

● Create a centralised Annual Review Inbox to ensure effective work together and 
meaningful decision process within legislative timescales - by March 2020.

Page 49



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● Ensure the SEND Panel has a clear representation of all appropriate professionals 
enabling informed decisions-by August 2020.

Closing the Gap between Disadvantaged Pupils and their Peers

● In 2018/19, all schools continued to receive additional funding from the Department of 
Education (DfE) to raise the attainment and improve the progress of children and young 
people from disadvantaged backgrounds. This funding, known as the Pupil Premium grant, 
can be used by schools in any way that they choose but must show an impact on outcomes 
for children from the poorest backgrounds. Schools are held to account for the use of Pupil 
Premium grant funding by Ofsted through the new inspection framework and also through 
strong governance at individual school and Local Authority level. 

● At Key Stage 1, the gap between children eligible for pupil premium funding and their non 
disadvantaged peers continues to narrow and is smaller than the gap nationally.  This 
represents a positive improvement from last year.  

● At Key Stage 2 the gap between children eligible for pupil premium funding and their non 
disadvantaged peers has also reduced for 2018/19. Data for comparison with national 
gaps shows Hillingdon performs better.  

● At Key Stage 4 and in terms of attainment of the English and Maths standard pass, the 
gap between the young people eligible for pupil premium funding and their non 
disadvantaged peers widened. However, it widened much more nationally. It narrowed for 
Progress 8 and Ebacc, more positively than nationally.

● The national focus on the reduction of inequality through improved educational outcomes 
for children and young people facing disadvantage continues to be a key focus for schools 
in Hillingdon. The Council’s School Improvement Team uses the outcomes and progress 
of disadvantaged learners as a key element in the risk assessment of maintained schools 
and continues to highlight the importance of local solutions to raise standards for this cohort 
of young people in the borough.  

● Schools whose outcomes for disadvantaged learners are consistently significantly poorer 
than for non-disadvantaged learners and where these gaps are not closing are encouraged 
to identify and work closely with schools whose outcomes for these cohorts have improved.  

Page 50



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Key stage 1 Attainment for children eligible for Pupil Premium funding 2017 to 2019

Data Set 17 - Table: 
Pupil Premium Key Stage 1 2017 to 2019

Individual Scores for Reading, Writing and Maths

  Actual results for Expected Standard

Reading Writing Maths 

Hillingdon Pupils

2017   2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Not FSM in last 6 
years (3463)

80 79 76.7 72 73 72.4 81 81 80.2

FSM in last 6 years 
(685)

63 64 64.5 51 55 55.2 60 63 65.2

LBH Gap between 
No FSM & FSM

17 15 12.2 19 18 17.2 21 18 15

National gap 
between No FSM & 
FSM

17 16.5 16.3 19 19 17.8 18 17 16.4

Source - NCER 2019

Key Stage 2 Attainment for children eligible for Pupil Premium funding 2017 to 2019
Data Set 18 - Table: Pupil Premium Key Stage 2 2017 to 2019
% for Reading, Writing and Maths Combined

 Actual results for Expected Standard*

Hillingdon Pupils

2017 2018 2019

Not FSM in last 6 years (2744) 70 71 73.9

Page 51



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

FSM in last 6 years (1158) 48 54 56.1

LBH Gap between No FSM and FSM 22 17 17.8

National gap between No FSM and FSM 20 20  19.5

Source - NCER 2019

Key Stage 4 Attainment for children eligible for Pupil Premium funding 2016 to 2018

Data Set 19 - Table:                                          Pupil Premium Key Stage 4 2017 to 2019

 Level 9 to 4: % English 
and Maths

 Average Progress 8 
scores

 % EBacc Entries**Hillingdon Pupils

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019

Not FSM in last 6 
years (2263)

70.1 69.3 71.5 0.18 0.2 0.17 49.5 50.2 48.8

FSM in last 6 years 
(940)

44.8 50 46.4 -0.14 -0.25 -0.2 34.2 34.1 34

LBH Gap between No 
FSM and FSM

25.3 19.3 25.1 -0.32 -0.45 -0.37 15.3 16.1 14.8

National gap between 
No FSM and FSM

27.4 17.9 27.2 -0.52 -0.58 -0.59 17.2 16 17

Source - 2019 LA Characteristics Table KS4 06022020 (EBacc entries are from NCER NOVA)
*Average Point Scores are the total points achieved by pupils in their best 8 GCSEs (or equivalents).
**English Baccalaureate  All are based on "New First Entry"

Page 52



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Performance of White British Pupils

The following tables from NCER NOVA reports show attainment trends for all pupils identifying 
themselves as White British from 2017 to 2019.

Data Set 20 - Table: Key Stage 1 Reading, Writing and Maths

LBH Pupils

Current Pupil 
Numbers

2017 2018 2019

All other Pupils  3028 (72%) 67.3 68.5 67.7

White British 1111 (28%) 59.8 60.9 58.2

LA Gap (percentage 
points) 

 -7.5 -7.6 -9.5

WB = 422520 
(63%)

 

National Gap 

Others = 
245540 (37%)

+0.3 -0.2 +0.1

Data Set 21 - Table: Key Stage 2 Reading, Writing and Maths 

LBH Pupils

Current Pupil 
Numbers

2017 2018 2019

All other Pupils 2753 (70.5%) 65.3 68.5 70.3

White British 1149 (29.5%) 60.5 61.9 64.6

LA Gap (percentage 
points) 

 -4.8 -6.6 -5.7

Page 53



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

WB =  425600 
(66%)

 

 National Gap

Others = 
217990 (34%)

+0.2 -0.7 -1.2

Data Set 22 - Table: Key Stage 4 Basics (4+ & 5+) 

2017 2018 2019

 

LBH Pupils Current Pupil 
Numbers

 
4+ 5+ 4+ 5+ 4+ 5+

All other pupils 1886 (60%) 69.7 44.1 70.5 44.9 71.1 44.6

White British 1234 (40%) 62.9 40.8 61.3 41.4 62.3 39.8

LA Gap (percentage 
points)

 -6.8 -3.3 -9.2 -3.5 -8.8 -4.8

WB = 379432 
(71%)

 

 National Gap

 Others = 
154053 (29%)

+0.1 -2 -0.3 -2.2 -0.1 -2.4

NB: in these reports a + sign in the gap indicates where “White British” pupils are outperforming “other” pupils

In each of the Key Stage tables shown above comparison between the performance of White 
British in Hillingdon and Nationally needs to bear in mind the wide difference in the percentage of 
pupils in each group with a much higher percentage of White British pupils at the national level.

Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)

The Council’s Participation Team undertake a number of functions concerned with ensuring 
children and young people access their education entitlement and benefit from sustained 
participation in education, employment and training (EET). This work includes the ongoing 

Page 54



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

tracking of young people’s participation so that targeted support may be provided for those who 
may have disengaged from EET.

The service leads on assuring the ‘September Guarantee’, a process whereby 16 and 17 year 
olds are enabled to find and secure education and training provision so that they may remain in 
learning. Work continues between September and January with a view to ensuring that young 
people have found suitable education and training provision and sustained their participation in 
identified placements. Participation data will fluctuate at points in the year, particularly during the 
summer, which is a key transition point where destinations change post Y11 and Y12. 

The very latest available data is tabled below. The first table includes the latest nationally released 
statistics for 2019 in the annual LA scorecard produced by the DfE. The second table contains 
more up to date statistics (to the end of July 2019 with comparisons to 2018) produced in 
collaboration with the West London Partnership. 

Data Set 23 - Table: Hillingdon LA quintile National

NEET 3 month average (Dec 18-Feb 19) *
2.50% 3rd 2.60%

Not known 3 month average (Dec 18-Feb 
19)* 4.40% 5th 2.90%

Activity Survey 2018 (% 16-17 yr olds 
participating in education and training ** 92.7% N/A 95.50%

September Guarantee 2018 (% 16-17 yr olds 
made offer of an education place *** 89.40% 5th 94.50%
Source * 2019 Annual LA scorecard, ** Moving on 2018 publication, *** 2018_September_Guarantee_Data 

Data Set 24 - Table: Hillingdon National
Regional (West London 

Partnership)

July 2018 July 2019 July 2018 July 2019 July 2018 July 2019

NEET 2.6% (175) 2.1% (137) N/A N/A 1.80% 1.60%

Not Known 1.7% (115) 2% (130) N/A N/A 2% 1.20%

In Learning Level
95.1% 
(6498)

95.3% 
(6209) N/A N/A 95.80% 96.70%

Source - West London Partnership Figures July 2019

● Following the move of directorate from Adult, Children and Young People Services to 
Resident services in March 2019, the Participation Team has undergone an interim re-
structure to help deliver increased attention to this area of work.  Significant progress has 
been made over the last year. Based on December 2019 and January 2020 NEET figures 
of 2.1% and 2.5% and not known figures of 3.1% and 1.5%, efforts are being made to 
significantly improve on these statistics in the next reported scorecard.

● The 2019 Activity Survey final EET figure was 95.9%, a considerable improvement on the 
92.7% recorded in 2018. This figure is the best recorded by Hillingdon in the last 5 years.

Page 55



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● September Guarantee statistics for 2019 recorded an improvement with 92.5% made an 
offer of an education place compared to 89.4% in 2018.

● NEET levels have remained consistently low, achieving the target of 2.5% for this cohort 
despite the more successful tracking on Not Knowns 16/17 yr olds. Robust efforts continue 
to be made to contact, engage and support young people identified as NEET including 
communications by telephone, emails, home visits, letters. NEET young people are invited 
to quarterly events arranged by the Participation Key Work Team where employers, 
education and training providers are brought together to create a marketplace of options 
for NEET young Hillingdon residents.  Further work is required to ensure all young people 
identified as being NEET are supported to access and sustain their engagement in 
employment, education and training. 

● The two existing agency Trackers have been developed to be able to sign-post and refer 
young people who are NEET to appropriate services who can assist them into EET and 
help them with their barriers to this, enabling the NEET figures to be kept within target.

● Where appropriate NEET young people are referred to specialist agencies including P3, 
The Skills Training, BUILD, Innov8, JGA group, Asphaleia to receive additional support.  
The Participation Team also engage with YOS and Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) Services to track and offer support to young people with additional 
needs in order to ensure they are enabled to access and sustain participation in 
employment, education and training. 

Priorities for Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 2019/20:

● Continuing to reduce NEET and Not Known levels through dedicated tracking and joint 
work with relevant council officers and external agencies.

● Develop a dedicated service for NEET young people and improved tracking resource to 
help identify those needing assistance at an earlier stage.

● Developing relationships with employers, education establishments and training providers 
with a view to supporting young people who may have significant barriers hindering their 
participation in EET to access the right opportunities to meet their needs.

Absence and Exclusions

Absence and exclusion issues are managed collaboratively by the Participation Team, Access 
and Admissions and School Improvement Services with a view to ensuring all young people 
access their full educational entitlement. This work constitutes a combination of activities ranging 
from seeking to monitor attendance, absence and exclusion rates to providing due support and 
challenge to schools and families to ensure optimum levels of participation.

Comparison of the most recent Absence figures

The table below compares absence rates in state funded schools for 2016/17 and 2017/18 (most 
recent available). A definition is provided for persistent absenteeism.

Page 56



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Hillingdon NationalData Set 25 - Table: 
Attendance rates

2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18

State funded schools 
absence -Primary

4.1 4.2 4 4.2

State funded schools  
absence - Secondary

5.5 5.5 5.4 5.5

State funded schools 
absence -overall

4.8 4.9 4.7 4.8

Persistent absentees* 
- Primary

8.5 8.8 8.3 8.7

Persistent absentees* 
- Secondary

14 13.8 13.5 13.9

Persistent absentees* 
-overall

11.1 11.2 10.8 11.2

Source – Absence_3term_201718_National and Local Authority Tables (DfE) - covers up to end of school year 
2017-2018

NB figures shown are percentages

* The definition of persistent absence changed from the 2015/16 academic year. Pupil enrolments missing 10 
percent or more of their own possible sessions (due to the sum of both authorised and unauthorised absence) are 
classified as persistent absentees.

● Hillingdon is broadly in line with national averages in terms of absence levels across 
primary and secondary schools and persistent absence figures overall. Where increases 
have been noted from the previous year, the increase is smaller than that recorded 
nationally. Most significant is the reduction in secondary persistent absentee rates across 
the two years in Hillingdon, compared to the rise nationally of 0.4%.

● Schools are responsible for reporting all persistent absentees, children removed from roll, 
children on part time timetables and children absent for 20+ consecutive sessions on a 
monthly basis to the local authority. They are also responsible for referring pupils with 

Page 57



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

concerning attendance to the Participation Team so that Participation Officer may 
undertake targeted case-work with the young people and families in question. Schools may 
also refer cases of unauthorised absence to the Local Authority where school attendance 
policies have been breached. These referrals may lead to the issuing of penalty notices to 
families in accordance with duties relating to ensuring parents exercise their 
responsibilities with regard to school attendance of their children. In addition to this, the 
Monthly Return data requirement has been further extended, with the support of Hillingdon 
Schools. The returns now contain data about current attendance rates and numbers of 
fixed term exclusions. This data is being collated through reports developed by Business 
Performance that will demonstrate trends and patterns that will help services be developed 
and to be targeted according to need.

● Hillingdon issued 872 Penalty Notices to families for unauthorised absences in 2018/19, 
812 of these were issued in response to unauthorised holidays from schools. The previous 
year 647 were issued which included 506 for unauthorised holidays. As of 1 February 2020, 
Hillingdon has issued 307 Penalty Notices, 263 for unauthorised holidays.

● In order to support school improvement regarding attendance, two attendance events are 
provided for all school-based attendance leads per year and include local and national 
updates, the sharing of best practice and networking opportunities.  

● In terms of rankings for attendance in 2017/18 Hillingdon is 81st in the National rankings 
(compared to 95th the previous year), 28th in comparison to all London authorities (no 
change from the previous year) and 9th in comparison to our Statistical Neighbours (11th 
the previous year). 

Exclusions Data for Schools in Hillingdon

● It is noted that the latest nationally comparable data available for school exclusions is for 
the period 2017/18.

● The Participation Team continues to deliver services and consultancy to schools when a 
pupil at risk of permanent exclusion is highlighted by a school and sufficient time to 
intervene is provided. 

● Rates of fixed term and permanent exclusion remain broadly in line compared to national 
averages. It is positive to note that most recent data indicates that these exclusion levels 
have now reduced to below London and England averages.

Page 58



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Permanent exclusions - Percentage of overall results

Data Set 26 - Table: Permanent Exclusions 2016-18

Phase State Funded Primary State Funded Secondary Specials

Region 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18

Hillingdon 0 0.02 0 0.2 0.20 0.23 0 X (see 
below)

0

England 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.09 0.24 0.2 0.08 0.07 0.07

London 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.17 0.19 0.19 0.10 0.05 0.04

Source – Permanent_and_Fixed_Exclusions_2017to2018_LATables (DfE)

(NB - X figure in Specials denotes anonymised due to low numbers)

NB – exclusions figures are always reported one year behind

● In terms of rankings Hillingdon is 63rd in the National rankings (was 79th), 19th in 
comparison to all London Authorities (was 26th) and 8th in comparison to our Statistical 
Neighbours (no change). 

Page 59



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Fixed term exclusions - Percentage of overall results

Data Set 27 - Table: Fixed Term Exclusions 2016-18

Phase State Funded Primary State Funded Secondary Specials

Region 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18

Hillingdon 0.44 0.58 0.38 7.44 7.75 7.24 13.1 0.90 1.68

England 1.21 1.37 1.4 8.46 9.4 10.13 12.53 13.03 12.34

London 0.84 0.83 0.85 6.87 7.5 7.63 13.34 13.51 14.14

Source - Source – Permanent_and_Fixed_Exclusions_2017to2018_LATables (DfE)

● In terms of rankings Hillingdon is 23rd in the National rankings (was 29th), 13th in     
comparison to all London Authorities (was 15th) and 6th in comparison to our Statistical 
Neighbours (was 7th).

Permanent Exclusions patterns

2016/17 - 71 permanent exclusions from in Borough schools upheld
2017/18 - 66 permanent exclusions from in Borough schools upheld
2018/19 - 47 permanent exclusions from in Borough schools upheld
2019/20 - 32 permanent exclusions from in Borough schools upheld end of first term

From the data above, it is expected that the number of permanent exclusions will rise above last 
year's figures. The School Placement and Admissions team are reviewing processes with schools 
and introducing a Headteachers Working Group to collectively reduce exclusions in the borough.

● The work of the Participation Team includes the provision of statutory work and also 
provides a Service Level Agreement which schools may purchase to support their 
management of potential exclusion. This SLA offers a range of strategies and advice to 
prevent exclusion wherever possible. In addition, the team aims to provide effective 
collaborative work with schools to identify and address absence issues; effective cross 
service working to address the underlying causes informing absence and targeted work 
with schools to promote and support inclusion so that, where possible exclusion is avoided.

● The Participation Team works with 96 school settings in Hillingdon to provide case-work 
on matters of school attendance and exclusions advice. A small number of schools have 

Page 60



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

opted not to purchase this service but remain in contact and are aware of their attendance 
patterns through the monthly returns data provided by those schools.

Priorities to reduce school exclusion and improve school attendance 2019/20:
 

● On-going work with schools to meet social and emotional needs of children and young 
people who have difficulty in regulating their behaviour to the point at which exclusion is a 
consideration.

● Monthly Returns from schools capture the Fixed Term Exclusion data that will be used to 
help demonstrate provision necessary to reduce the number, the risk and provide support 
for schools, children and young people.

● Working to address issues in relation to unauthorised absence.

● Agreeing ways of working with schools to allow more time to be spent on addressing 
longitudinal  issues of irregular attendance and reviewing the Penalty Notice Protocol to 
support this.

Officers at the Local Authority have recently carried out detailed analysis of permanent exclusions 
within Hillingdon and recognise there is a varied approach to behaviour management within 
Hillingdon schools. 

Some key findings of the permanent exclusions in the academic year 2018/19  were as follows:

● 70% were male

● 43% were White English/British males.

● 57% had a history of fixed term exclusions. 

● 46% were in receipt of Pupil Premium

● 23% had SEN support (not including EHCP)

As a result of the recent exclusion review the LA are creating a Working Group of LA officers 
including the Education Psychology Service, SEND Advisory Service, School Improvement, 
Youth Offending service and Headteachers to reduce the risk of permanent exclusions for young 
people. This group will review existing practises between schools with a view to encourage 
consistent approaches and share good practise.

The aims of the Working Group are:

● Further develop the Managed Move process in Hillingdon by reviewing the effectiveness 
to ensure that it achieves a reduction in permanent exclusions and allows young people a 
‘fresh start’.

● Support schools to establish systems to manage poor behaviour and support children with 
additional needs. To first understand the current behaviour and developmental needs of 
pupils to establish the gaps in behaviour and well-being support for pupils.

Page 61



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● Share good practice and gain a more collaborative borough approach. The group will 
review the effectiveness of current exclusion practise - strategies and early interventions 
for behaviour management.

● Establish what the current need is surrounding Alternative Provision i.e. affiliations, 
medical needs (mental health). Develop a shared understanding of the purpose and 
expectations of alternative provision (AP) at a local level and in turn shape the AP offer to 
support the most challenging pupils.

● Strengthen partnership arrangements with schools for commissioning and delivering 
alternative provision.

● Develop the role of the Local Authority to support schools and pupils. This will require 
further involvement from key professionals such as social workers playing an active role   
when a change happens such as fixed term exclusion, managed move, alternative 
provision.  

● Build the evidence base to develop a bespoke alternative provision performance 
framework. The Group will review the success of AP and ensure the routes out of AP are 
well-developed, so that children who leave AP settings can fulfil their potential as they grow 
up.

● Termly detailed reports to Hillingdon Safeguarding Children Partnership so they can 
assess and address any emerging safeguarding concerns such as involvement in crime. 

The Local Authority has recently secured funding from the London Crime Prevention Fund via 
MOPAC to minimise school exclusions and support young people back into education, 
employment and training. The Local Authority will use this funding to create two contracted posts 
through to March 2021. This funding will be used to ensure the above developments are 
implemented across Hillingdon.

Section 5:  Standards and Quality of Education for Adult Learners

Hillingdon Adult and Community Learning Service 

Hillingdon Adult and Community Learning (HACL) provides opportunities for adult residents aged 
19+ to learn new skills designed to lead to work, enhance life chances, improve wellbeing and 
encourage greater social cohesion. All programmes align to LB Hillingdon’s priorities and needs 
and the Skills for Londoners Strategy.  

The service was inspected by Ofsted in December 2019 and was graded as ‘good’. Ofsted found 
that ‘learners look forward to attending their classes, [where] they learn much that helps them in 
their daily lives, their wellbeing or in their search for a job or further training. Many greatly develop 
their self-confidence and esteem [and say] the centres are great places to learn and they would 
recommend them to their friends.’ Learners ‘benefit from learning in an environment where there 
is mutual respect whatever background you come from.’ 
Ofsted Inspection Report, December 2019.

Page 62



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 28 - Table: Key data 16-17 17-18 18-19

Learners
Individual residents

2507 2672 2917

Enrolments
People can enrol for more than one class

4663 5051 5170

Retention
Proportion of those enrolled who stay until end of course

94.7% 93.0% 92.6%

Attendance
Important because they can’t learn if they don’t attend

85.6% 87.9% 88.82%

Pass
Of those retained, what proportion passed their course?

94.7% 95.5% 96.6%

Achievement
Of those who started, what proportion passed the course?

89.7% 88.9% 89.5%

HACL continues to provide a good quality adult learning offer to residents by ensuring that strong 
strategic leadership and management drives sustainable improvement for the benefit of all. The 
overall quality of education that learners receive is good, as is the support that the service 
provides to those who need additional help to achieve. 94% of learners are from Hillingdon, 97% 
from London and the service increased its learner and enrolment numbers this year in contrast 
with falling national trends. HACL learners are predominantly women with entry level skills and 
low incomes who wish to improve their life chances and/or those of their children. The proportion 
of black and minority ethnic (BAME) learners within HACL is 53%, above the borough profile. 

Over the past three years the service has prioritised outreach provision through neighbourhood 
learning in deprived communities in order to target funding and provision where it is most needed 
within the borough and to attract members of disadvantaged groups into learning. This provision 
is free to learners and led to over 1500 enrolments in non-qualification, community learning 
classes in 18-19 through the courses we offer in partnership with local community groups, such 
as Uxbridge Stroke Society, Yeading Junior School, Wren Dementia Support Group, the Somali 
Women’s Group and the Austin Estate Sewing Club. These residents take their first tentative 
steps back into learning through these courses, gradually realising how much learning enhances 
their lives, which in turn motivates them to improve and progress through each stage.

The provision aimed at residents with disclosed mental health issues, which started as an 
externally-funded research project four years ago, is now fully embedded in the service’s targeted 
outreach offer, leading to 374 enrolments in 19-20 and 52 learners progressing onto further 
courses, volunteering or paid work.

 
Qualification courses include British Sign Language, Community Interpreting, Caring for Children, 
Counselling, English, ESOL, Floristry, Horticulture, Independent Living, IT, Maths and Supporting 
Teaching and Learning. These courses accounted for 2236 enrolments (43.25%) this year, 65% 
of which were at entry level (beginners).  Provision above entry level is mainly at levels 1 and 2 
(GCSE level) with a small number of level 3 enrolments (A level equivalent). There were 470 
enrolments by adults with learning difficulties and disabilities in 2018-19.

Page 63



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

The service also provided education and careers advice to 725 adults free of charge, through 
open days in recruitment periods, 1-1 sessions provided in partnership with the National Careers 
Service, and events such as an annual Careers Fair. This provision is being further developed  
as part of an externally-funded project that runs until 2021, by which time we plan to offer a range 
of easily accessible, online information for residents that will help them access information, 
strengthen their CVs and develop their careers.

Section 6:  School Placements & Admissions

Secondary School Places

● There has been a 3% increase in applications across London since 2018 - Hillingdon 
experienced a 7% increase reflecting a growing population and a higher demand for school 
places. Despite the increase and a record high of 3,703 applications in total for secondary 
school places Hillingdon remain as the top borough in West London for families receiving 
an offer at one of their preferred secondary schools. To meet the challenge, over the past 
few years Hillingdon Council has invested £254 million into its school expansions 
programme, which is one of the largest in London.

● On National Offer Day 2019 Hillingdon offered 100% of our applicants a school place.

● 94.41% of Hillingdon pupils received one of their preferred choices. This is above the 
London average of 92.39%.  

● 67.89% of pupils were allocated their first choice of secondary school.  Some parents 
choose to put a single school on their application form. Other parents, who are aware that 
all their preferences will be considered equally, may decide to use their first preference to 
rank a school which their child is less likely to be offered and put their more realistic options 
lower down the list. Therefore it is important to consider how well all preferences have 
been met, as these are likely to have been more than satisfactory to many parents.

● To meet the growing demand for school places in the borough, the Council invested £9.7 
million to rebuild and expand Oak Wood School in Hillingdon, formerly Abbotsfield School, 
which is providing 1,350 secondary school places in the borough.

● Hillingdon also approved the plans to offer an additional 300 secondary school places at 
Vyners School in Ickenham, and the expansion of Ruislip High School which has created 
a further 174 extra places.

● Swakeleys School has permanently expanded which has created an additional 60 places 
for each Year 7 intake group from September 2018 which continues to support choice for 
parents. 

Primary School Places

● There has been a 0.08% decrease in applications for primary places across London - 
Hillingdon experienced a 1% decrease. The Pan London Admissions Board are aware that 
lower birth rates could affect the number of children starting primary school in London this 
year. It is also expected that a range of other factors, including property prices in some 
areas and welfare reform changes, have also contributed to this.

Page 64



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

● On National Offer Day 2019 Hillingdon offered 100% of our applicants a school place. 

● Despite Hillingdon still receiving high levels of demand for school places, 98.77% of 
applicants received an offer at one of their preferred primary schools, which is above the 
London average (97.73%).

● Hillingdon Council received 3,909 applications and offered 97.88% of pupils one of their 
top three schools, with 89.37% of primary school children receiving their first choice.

● Some parents choose to put a single school on their application form. Other parents, who 
are aware that all their preferences will be considered equally, may decide to use their first 
preference to rank a school which their child is less likely to be offered and put their more 
realistic options lower down the list. Therefore it is important to consider how well all 
preferences have been met, as these are likely to have been more than satisfactory to 
many parents.

Fair Access

● The purpose of Fair Access Protocols is to ensure that outside the normal admissions 
round unplaced children, especially the most vulnerable, are found and offered a place 
quickly, so that the amount of time any child is out of school is kept to the minimum. Every 
local authority is required to have in place a Fair Access Protocol, developed in partnership 
with local schools. Hillingdon has an ‘In Year Fair Access Panel’ (IYFAP) to consider these 
types of school admissions.

● Due to new ways of working and improved communication between the Local Authority 
and admissions officers based in schools there has been a considerable decrease in the 
number of primary referrals to the IYFAP. Below is a summary of the referrals made via 
the IYFAP.

Key Statistics 

● 75% decrease in the total number of Primary placements by the IYFAP in comparison to 
academic year 2017-2018.

● 63% increase in the total number of placements by the IYFAP in comparison to academic 
year 2017-2018.

● 73 Year 11 aged children successfully placed in mainstream schools, 2 of the 73 pupils 
remained in the Interim Provision as they were approaching the end of term. 

● 97% increase in the total number of year 11 placements by the IYFAP into mainstream 
schools in comparison to academic year 2017-2018

These statistics include July’s placements however they did not start until the following academic 
year. 

Page 65



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Placements for Year 11 students

● This academic year the Local Authority (LA), IYFAP and Hillingdon Association of 
Secondary Headteachers (HASH) have been continuing to work together to integrate year 
11s who have moved into the borough and are out of education, into a mainstream school 
instead of an alternative provision (such as colleges). For the academic year 2018-19, 73 
Year 11 aged children were successfully integrated into Hillingdon schools. Due to the 
success of these placements, the IYFAP will continue to place all mainstream appropriate 
Year 11 aged children at Panel.  

● The tables below show the Fair Access placements from September 2018 - July 2019, it 
also indicates where in the borough the pupils were residing. For secondary schools the 
north of the borough is determined as above the A40, and south as below the A40.  Primary 
schools are determined by planning areas. These referrals reflect all pupils that were taken 
to the panel, some pupils were not placed but have been included in the referrals. As there 
was only 1 primary referral there were no specific observations.
 

Data Set 29 - Table: Primary referrals
September 2018 - July 2019

Month/Year 
Group Reception Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 North South

September 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

October 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

November 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

December 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

January 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

February 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

March 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

April 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

June 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

July 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total per year 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Total 1

Page 66



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 30 - Table: Secondary referrals
September 2018 - July 2019

Month/Year 
Group Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 North South

September 0 2 4 4 26 15 21

October 0 0 0 5 5 7 3

November 0 0 2 3 10 3 12

December 0 1 0 1 8 3 7

January 0 1 0 1 4 3 3

February 0 3 2 1 10 5 11

March 0 0 2 2 5 1 8

April 0 0 0 2 5 4 3

June 0 1 3 2 0 1 5

July 0 0 1 3 0 0 4

Total per year 0 8 14 24 73 42 77

Total 119
The month of May will not appear in any statistics as no IYFAP meetings were held in May. 

Referral reason  

Below is a breakdown of the reasons each referral was made to the IYFAP. If a criterion is not 
listed below but recognised in the IYFAP Protocol, it is because no referrals were made under 
that criterion. The highest numbers of referrals in Secondary were made for year 11 pupils as 
they cannot be easily assimilated into appropriate courses. The primary aged pupil was referred 
following an unreasonable permanent exclusion from an out of borough school. The exclusion 
was so unreasonable that the excluding school withdrew it prior to the Governor’s Review 
meeting. This pupil was placed by the Fair Access Panel on a staggered transition plan at a 
Hillingdon mainstream school with exceptional funding provided by Hillingdon’s SEN Team.

Page 67



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Data Set 31 - Table: Criterion Met

Month

Children on roll at a 
school that is 

deemed an 
unreasonable 

distance

Unable to offer a 
school within a 

reasonable walking 
distance

Known to have 
challenging 
behaviour

Out of education 
for 2 or more 

months Year 11's
EHE that has 

failed Other Total

September 0 0 2 4 26 4 0 36

October 1 0 0 3 4 2 0 10

November 0 0 1 3 10 1 0 15

December 0 0 0 2 8 0 0 10

January 0 0 0 1 4 0 1 6

February 1 0 0 1 7 2 5 16

March 0 0 0 4 5 0 0 9

April 0 0 0 2 5 0 0 7

June 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 7

July 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 4

Total 4 0 4 26 69 9 8 120

Primary Place planning areas 
The following table shows which planning area the 1 primary aged child referred to fair access 
lives. Please see map attached at the end of this paper that shows the areas and schools covered 
in the specific place planning areas.

Data Set 32 - Table: Primary allocations - Place planning area
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

Reception            
Year 1         
Year 2          
Year 3         
Year 4           
Year 5    1      
Year 6              
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

1

The place planning table shows that the 1 referral lives in place planning area 8. The schools in 
this area are Charville Academy, Hayes Park Primary, Hewens Primary and Grange Park Infant 
& Junior School.

Place planning areas 1- 5 are in the North of the borough and 6- 13 are situated in the South of 
the borough. 

Page 68



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

For the 111 secondary school placements made through Fair Access, 104 children lived in the 
South of the borough and 7 children lived in the North of the borough. Although 94% of the children 
lived in the South, placements for these children were spread evenly across all schools in the 
North and South of the borough, which has eliminated schools in the South taking a 
disproportionate number of Fair Access placements over the academic year 2018-19.

Below is a comparison of the number of In Year Fair Access Panel placements made this year in 
comparison to the last two academic years.

Data Set 33 - Table: In Year Fair Access Panel Placements

2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019

Month Primary Secondary Total Primary Secondary Total Primary Secondary Total

September 6 22 28 4 16 20 0 32 32

October 0 4 4 0 8 8 0 8 8

November 3 5 8 0 3 3 0 14 14

December 1 5 6 0 5 5 0 10 10

January 0 3 3 0 6 6 0 6 6

February 0 2 2 0 3 3 0 14 14

March 0 2 2 0 5 5 0 9 9

April 0 2 2 0 4 4 0 7 7

June 0 2 2 0 5 5 1 6 7

July 1 4 5 0 9 9 0 4 4

Total 11 51 62 4 64 68 1 110 111

The above numbers do not include the 9 children who have returned to their previous school, 
following EHE failing within 6 months.

Page 69



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Elective Home Education

Registered as electively home educated for any one period between 1 September 2018 - 31 
August 2019

Total Number of  children registered between the above dates - 462

Primary Secondary

231 231

Female Male

242 220

New Elective Home Education Procedure for Hillingdon Schools

Hillingdon Local Authority has created a new procedure to acknowledge the recent 
recommendations made by the Children's Commissioners report 'Skipping School: Invisible 
Children and Ofsted’s research ‘Moving to home education in secondary schools’ stated:

All schools are expected to provide the borough’s Elective Home Education Officer, with the 
following  information: 

● Parent’s letter, or email, informing the school of their decision to home educate (if 
provided). 

● Reason/s the school are aware of why the parent has decided to home educate. 

● An up to date attendance record for the child. 

● Details of the allocated social worker, if the child has one.

● List of attainment levels (useful for education advisers when they visit, or if the case is 
referred to the Fair Access Panel). 

● Notification/information if the child has special educational needs with or without an  
Education, Health and Care Plan. 

● Confirmation that the school have offered to provide parents with either previous classwork 
or a summary of the curriculum followed to date (and possibly the future curriculum plan). 
This will assist the parent with their planning for home education. The parent may decide 
to ignore this documentation hence their reason to EHE as they may have dissatisfaction 
with the education system. However, this will be a useful tool for some.

Under the Pupil Registration Regulations (2006), the school is required to deregister the child or 
young person upon receipt of the parent letter and inform the child or young person’s home Local 

Page 70



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Authority (LA). In order to promote the recommendations stated by Ofsted the Local Authority feel 
it has been agreed that good practice for schools will be to temporarily keep a pupil on roll for 5 
school days following referral to the Elective Home Education Officer. This allows time for the 
officer to process the request and attempt to engage the family further to seek a resolution (if 
necessary) before removal from roll. 

Fair Access Arrangements for Electively Home Educated Children

Children who are electively home educated where home education is judged to have failed in the 
view of the Local Authority; within 6 months of coming off a school's roll will be placed back at 
previous school. This will be reviewed by the panel on a case by case basis and will apply where 
deemed reasonable.

This was applied over the academic year of 2018-2019 with great success and headteachers 
have agreed to keep it within the Fair Access Protocol for the coming academic year.

The Fair Access Panel have introduced a further agreement from January 2020, where the pupil 
will be referred to the Fair Access Panel and be placed back on the roll of the school they 
previously attended before leaving to be home educated at any time and not just within 6 months 
(where applicable i.e not inclusive of primary/secondary transfer or out borough schools). This 
may result in the pupil immediately being put forward for a Managed Move to another Hillingdon 
school. However, this new procedure will ensure that schools have continued oversight of the 
pupils education until (where appropriate) another school takes responsibility for the pupil. This 
procedure has been discussed between Hillingdon LA officers and Ofsted who are in agreement 
that the procedure shows transparency in regards to the risk of ‘off-rolling’.

Implications on related Council policies

A role of the Policy Overview Committees is to make recommendations on service changes and 
improvements to the Cabinet who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

This report allows Elected Members to have an overview of the standards and quality of education 
services available to Hillingdon residents.

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

NIL.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 
2020

ELECTIVE HOME EDUCATION UPDATE

Committee name Residents, Education and Environmental Services 
Policy Overview Committee

Officer reporting Laura Palmer – Residents Services

Papers with report None

Ward All

HEADLINES

To provide the Committee with an update on elective home education of Hillingdon 
children. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Committee notes the information contained within the report.

What is Elective Home Education?

Elective Home Education (EHE) is the term used by the Department for Education 
(DfE) to describe the education provided by parents at home, rather than providing 
education for their children by sending them to school. This is different to home 
tuition provided by a Local Authority or education provided by a Local Authority other 
than at a school. It is recognised that parents may choose home education for a 
variety of reasons.

 The definition within section 7 of the Education Act 1996 provides that:

 “The parent of every child of compulsory school age shall cause him to receive 
efficient full-time education suitable-

 (a) to his age, ability and aptitude, and

(b) to any special educational needs, he may have, either by regular attendance at 
school or otherwise.”

Compulsory school age begins on the next prescribed day following a child’s fifth 
birthday (or on their fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day). The prescribed days 
are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August each year. A child continues to be of 
compulsory school age until the last Friday of June in the school year that they reach 
the age of sixteen.

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 
2020

What are Hillingdon Council’s responsibilities in relation to families who home 
educate?

What may surprise some people is that parents are under no obligation to engage 
with the Local Authority: 

•   Parents have a legal right to educate their child at home and are not 
required to have any qualifications or training to provide their children with 
a suitable education.

•   If a child is on a school roll and the parents make the decision to home 
educate, the school will complete a referral to Hillingdon Council.

•   Parents are not required to inform Hillingdon Council that they intend to 
elect or have elected to home-educate. However, they are encouraged to 
do so.

Parents are not required to seek approval from the Local Authority, unless the child 
has an Education Health Care Plan.

Hillingdon Council has a statutory duty, under section 436A of the Education Act 
1996 to make arrangements to enable them to establish (so far as it is possible) the 
identities of children in their area who are not receiving a suitable education. This 
duty applies to all children of compulsory school age who are not on a school roll and 
do not appear to be receiving a suitable education otherwise than being at school.

A further statutory duty exists, which requires Hillingdon Council to serve a formal 
notice under section 437 of the Education Act 1996, if it appears that a child of 
compulsory school age is not receiving a suitable education.

Safeguarding

Section 175 of the Education Act 2002 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to 
make arrangements for ensuring that the functions conferred on them are exercised 
with a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of all children resident in 
Hillingdon.

Where there are concerns regarding the safeguarding of the child, the School 
Placement and Admissions Team will follow Hillingdon’s Safeguarding Children 
Partnership safeguarding procedures at all times and work with relevant agencies 
and individuals to proactively safeguard and promote the welfare of children and, in 
the event of any concerns about the welfare of a home educated child, initiate and 
follow established procedures.

Where there is no evidence of an education being provided the case is recorded as a 
Child Missing Education (CME) and the CME process is initiated.

How many children are home educated in Hillingdon?

At the time of submitting this report in the academic year 2019-20 - 240 Hillingdon  
children are being home educated.  This number will fluctuate throughout the year.

Page 74



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 
2020

At the end of the academic year 2018-19, 218 children were registered as home 
educated in the London Borough of Hillingdon. This represents a decrease of 23.8% 
compared to the academic year 2017- 2018, when there were 286 children 
registered.

Due to the ‘revolving door’ of children registered to home educate in 2018-19, 462 
individual children were registered to home educate during the academic year.  This 
is an increase of 5.2% compared to the academic year 2017-2018 where the total 
number of children registered at any point was 439. This increase highlights the 
increasing trend of home education within Hillingdon alongside the National increase 
which showed the number of home educated pupils rose by 27% from 2017-2018. 

The following information is based on the full academic year 2018/19:
      
● Of the 462 children registered at any one point throughout this academic year, 

242 were female, and 220 were male.
● Of the 27 Hillingdon secondary schools (including Hillingdon special schools), 

21 of them had children leave to be home educated. 
● There were a total of 232 children registered as home educated that were of 

Key stage 3 and 4 age. This equates to 50.2% of children who were registered 
home educated in Hillingdon. 232 includes children who have moved into 
Hillingdon, EHE since leaving primary school, or previously attended a special 
school. Therefore not all of these children left Hillingdon secondary schools to 
become home educated.

● Of the cohort of the children registered to home educate, 11.9% (55)  were 
known to Social Services (current and historic) and of those 21.9% (12) 
are/were on Child Protection Plan’s.

● Of the cohort, there were 17 children with an Education Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP) registered to home educate (3.7% of EHE cohort), representing an 
increase of 13.3% compared to academic year 2017-2018.

● 81 of the children registered to be home educated, were in receipt of SEN 
Support whilst previously attending school. This is a 28.6% increase since the 
2017-2018 cohort.

● For 60% of children removed from school rolls to home educate, parents have 
not provided the Council with their reasons for this, 3.5% parents have done 
this as a short term intervention for a particular reason, and 25.3% is due to not 
being a parent or child’s preferred school. This represented an increase of 
26.7% compared to the academic year 2017-2018. (This % is only accurate on 
the information supplied and may not be a true reflection of the whole EHE 
cohort as not all parents give their reasons).

● During the academic year 244 children ceased being registered as elective 
home education with Hillingdon Council. 55.7% of cases closed were open for a 
year or less; this may indicate that home education has been chosen by 
parents as a short-term intervention.

● 26.4% of the children who left home education in the academic year, are now 
attending a mainstream school.

Page 75



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 
2020

● During the year, the EHE Officer referred 50 Year 11 pupils to Hillingdon’s 
Participation Team who were currently home educated, so that the team were 
able to offer support regarding Education, Employment and Training (EET). 

It should be noted that there may be families who are not registered with the 
authority, this is because if the parent has never registered their child with a school, 
there is no record of the child in the education system.

The School Placement and Admissions team have continued to focus on developing 
positive relationships with home educating families and making sure our EHE 
records are up to date. 

The EHE officers main job title is Senior Admissions and Access Officer who sits 
within the School Placement and Admissions Team. Elective Home Education is an 
aspect of their day to day job, however they are also responsible for Fair Access, 
Admission Appeals, Consultation Arrangements, Permanent Exclusions, and 
supporting the School Placement and Admissions Team Manager. Part of the EHE 
Officers role is to ensure that pupils who are not in receipt of a suitable education are 
identified at the earliest opportunity and a school place secured where appropriate or 
they are returned to their previous school through the Fair Access Panel

Further collaborative work with schools is now in place, to ensure that schools have 
effective communication with parents so they are fully informed of their 
responsibilities when they make the decision to remove their child from a school roll 
to home educate.

In October 2019 Hillingdon Council introduced a new procedure to schools to 
acknowledge the recent recommendations made by the Children's Commissioners 
report 'Skipping School: Invisible Children and Ofsted’s research ‘Moving to home 
education in secondary schools’. 

All schools are expected to provide the Borough’s Elective Home Education Officer, 
with the following information via a dedicated form; 

● Parent’s letter, or email, informing the school of their decision to home 
educate (if provided). 

● Reason/s the school are aware of why the parent has decided to home 
educate. 

● An up to date attendance record for the child. 
● Details of the allocated social worker, if the child has one.
● List of attainment levels (useful for education advisers when they visit, or if the 

case is referred to the Fair Access Panel). 
● Notification/information if the child has special educational needs with or 

without an  Education, Health and Care Plan. 
● Confirmation that the school have offered to provide parents with either 

previous classwork or a summary of the curriculum followed to date (and 
possibly the future curriculum plan). This will assist the parent with their 
planning for home education. The parent may decide to ignore this 

Page 76



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 
2020

documentation hence their reason to EHE as they may have dissatisfaction 
with the education system. However, this will be a useful tool for some.

The Local Authority has made it very clear to all Hillingdon schools that parents must 
not, under any circumstances, be encouraged, or coerced, into home educating their 
child. 

Data is recorded and reviewed every half term where both good and poor practice is 
considered and relevant action taken. The new process allows the Local Authority to 
offer immediate tailored advice to home educating families. For schools the 
completion of the form also allows them to keep an audit trail of their discussions 
surrounding elective home education, which will assist the school to review their 
practices and evidence their work so there is no misunderstanding surrounding ‘off-
rolling’.  

Further developments by the Local Authority include:

● All Safeguarding Leads in Hillingdon schools have been trained on the 
statutory and safeguarding requirements surrounding elective home 
education. 

● The Local Authorities Fair Access Protocol has been agreed with all 
Hillingdon Head teachers to include EHE pupils returning to the school they 
left (where appropriate) if home education has broken down. This ensures 
schools have continued oversight and reduces ‘off-rolling’.

● Procedure developed for schools to follow and keep pupils on roll for 5 days 
as a cooling off period which allows the EHE Officer to consult parents 
independently from the school and offer mediation where necessary.  

● In April 2019 a thorough and collective Local Authority response was 
submitted to DfE consultation for Children not in school. This consultation 
covered the introduction of a statutory EHE register. 

● In November 2019 a thorough and collective Local Authority response was 
submitted to the DfE consultation for an On-line School Accreditation 
Scheme. This consultation covered the introduction of regulating on-line 
schools.

● Improved the EHE introduction letter for parents with a supporting easy to 
read information document for parents.

● Updated Hillingdon’s EHE Policy in-line with new statutory guidance - 
currently in draft format with Hillingdon Legal services prior to publication.

● Updated and circulated Professional Briefing Sheet regarding EHE for LA 
officers. 

● Created a referral form for other boroughs to document when a pupil who is 
EHE moves out of Hillingdon.

● A review is underway between service areas for the process of support for 
pupils with an EHCP who EHE

● Created a dedicated email account for EHE to separate schools admissions 
for clearer communication routes.

● Created an EHE feedback form for LA officers to complete via the telephone 
with parents to capture data and track EHE trends in Hillingdon. 

Page 77

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1HVmGzsPa4CCqJHonBspD-c3UyzDKABQnw7M_S5SHBgs/edit


Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 
2020

● Created weekly automated reports with Social Care’s database to alert the 
team to any vulnerable families known to be EHE without delay. 

● Created an outline plan to support parents in the beginning stages of planning 
their child’s home education and to help the LA better understand the diversity 
of EHE across Hillingdon. 

● Created an EHE mailing list document, where the LA can record email 
addresses of parents who wish to be contacted from time to time regarding 
useful websites, services or events.

● In the development stages of creating a termly newsletter for the Hillingdon 
EHE community to inform them of local services, events and health updates 
such as vaccinations.

● A report to be presented to Hillingdon’s Safeguarding Children Partnership in 
order to extend training to partner agencies to raise awareness. Following this 
individualised training packages can be offered i.e hospital staff.

Implications on related Council policies

There are no direct implications on council policies arising from this report.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

Ongoing support is being developed to support parents to eliminate potential ‘off 
rolling’ in Hillingdon schools. This work ensures that every child has access to a school 
place.

Financial Implications

Corporate Finance has reviewed this report and confirms that there are no direct 
financial implications arising from the recommendations set out above.

Legal Implications

The Borough Solicitor is currently reviewing the London Borough of Hillingdon’s 
Elective Home Education Policy. Legal advice will be provided whenever necessary, 
in particular cases, to ensure that the Council's Interests are protected.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

NIL.

Page 78



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

Committee name Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview 
Committee 

Officer reporting Neil Fraser, Democratic Services Officer

Papers with report Appendix A – Forward Plan 

Ward All

HEADLINES

The Committee is required by its Terms of Reference to consider the Forward Plan and comment 
as appropriate to the decision-maker on key decisions which relate to services within its remit 
(before they are taken by the Cabinet or by the Cabinet Member).

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 
notes and comments on items going to Cabinet. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The latest published Forward Plan is attached. 

Implications on related Council policies

Policy Overview Committees are at the heart of how the Council shapes policy at Member level.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

Policy Overview Committees directly engage residents in shaping policy and recommendations 
from the Committees seek to improve the way the Council provides services to residents.

Financial Implications

None at this stage.

Legal Implications

None at this stage.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

NIL.

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Page 80



Ref
Upcoming 
Decisions Further details Ward(s)

Final 
decision 
by Full 
Council

Cabinet 
Member(s) 
Responsible

Officer 
Contact for 
further 
information

Consultation 
on the 
decision

NEW 
ITEM

Public / 
Private 
Decision 
& 
reasons 

SI = Standard Item each month                                                                                                                                                                   
Council Departments:  RS = Residents Services    SC = Social Care   AD = Administration    FD= Finance   

Cabinet Meeting – 23 April 2020
289 Standards and 

Quality of 
Eeducation in 
Hillingdon 
during 2018/19

The Annual 
Report to 
Cabinet 
regarding 
children and 
young people's 
educational 
performance 
across Hillingdon 
schools.

All Cllr Susan 
O’Brien

RS - Daniel 
Kennedy

Residents, 
Education & 
Environmen
tal Services 
Policy 
Overview 
Committee

Public

306 Pay & Display 
Parking 
Machine 
Upgrade

Following an 
refreshed 

procurement 
exercise, 

Cabinet will 
consider the 

acceptance of a 
tender for the 
new Pay and 

Display Parking 
Machines across 

the Borough, 
with card reader 

facility.

All Cllr Keith 
Burrows

RS – Roy 
Clark / Lisa 
Sharp 

NEW Private 
(3)

P
age 81



043 Douay Martyrs 
School, 
Ickenham

Cabinet will 
consider the 

variation of lease 
and licence 

agreements at 
Douay Martyrs 

School to 
facilitate 

improvement 
works proposed 
for the school 

site.

Ickenham Cllr Jonathan 
Bianco

RS - Mike 
Paterson

Private 
(3)

Cabinet Member Decisions Expected – May 2020
300 Accreditation 

of the Museum, 
Archives and 
Local Studies 
Service & 
approval of 
related policies

Member 
approval is 
sought to enable 
the Museum, 
Archives and 
Local Studies 
Service to 
achieve full 
accreditation as 
a museum 
service by the 
Arts Council for 
England. This 
requires 
approval of the 
Council's 
updated 
Collections 
Development 
Policy and 

All Cllr Ray 
Puddifoot 
MBE / Cllr 
Richard 
Lewis

RS - Tim 
Saward / 
Susan Dalloe

Various Public

P
age 82



associated 
Documentation 
Policy, Care and 
Conservation 
Policy, Access 
Policy and 
service Forward 
Plan. This will 
enable the 
service to 
continue its work 
to preserve and 
promote the 
heritage of 
Hillingdon for all 
its residents.

Cabinet Meeting – 25 June 2020

305 Refurbishment 
of Yiewsley 
and West 
Drayton 
Community 
Centre

This report will 
seek Cabinet 
approval to 
appoint a 
building works 
contractor for the 
refurbishment of 
the Yiewsley and 
West Drayton 
Community 
Centre.

West 
Drayton

Cllr Jonathan 
Bianco

RS – Bobby 
Finch

Private 
(3)

Cabinet Meeting – 23 July 2020
037 The collection 

and 
processing of 

This report seeks 
Cabinet authority 
to extend the 

All Cllr Philip 
Corthorne

RS / FD - 
Nicola Herbert 
/ Melissa 
Sage

Private 
(3)

P
age 83



co-mingled dry 
recycling

current contract 
for the collection 
and processing 
of co-mingled dry 
recycling on 
behalf of the 
London Borough 
of Hillingdon.

P
age 84



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

RESIDENTS, EDUCATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES POLICY 
OVERVIEW COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 

Committee name Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview 
Committee 

Officer reporting Neil Fraser, Chief Executive’s Office

Papers with report Appendix A – Work Programme

Ward All

HEADLINES

To enable the Committee to note future meeting dates and to forward plan its work for the current 
municipal year.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 
considers the report and agrees any amendments. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1. The Committee's meetings will start at 7pm and the witnesses attending each of the meetings 
are generally representatives from external organisations, some of whom travel from outside 
of the Borough.  Forthcoming meeting dates are as follows: 

Meeting Date Room
19 March 2020 CR5
14 April 2020 CR5
25 June 2020 CR5
22 July 2020 CR5
3 September 2020 CR6
15 October 2020 CR6
3 November 2020 CR5
27 January 2021 CR5
23 February 2021 CR5

Implications on related Council policies

The role of the Policy Overview Committees is to make recommendations on service changes 
and improvements to the Cabinet, who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



Classification: Public
Residents, Education and Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee – 19 March 2020

Policy Overview Committees directly engage residents in shaping policy and recommendations 
and the Committees seek to improve the way the Council provides services to residents.

Financial Implications

None at this stage.

Legal Implications

None at this stage.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

NIL.

Page 86



��������	
���
��
��
	
���

�	����������	������
������������ � �!�"

����
#�$�%�&�$'�(%�)	���&�*

�(&+�
�&��&�	��,�
+�)�
$�

-���)��.+�
+����/���
�����

�	
)01�
��
2�&�2���

,�����3�
.)��3�

4�+��3�


5�)��3�
2	&�	

��6�3
�	
�

�	
)01�
��
7879

:;::
<7;

</1=>4
(?:@

:<7@
:A

#(B>(C�=D�?	)��&��E��
��
�&��	&%�6���?����&��

C��0�&�F����&�%�& GHIJK�LMNMKOJHP�Q�LKHIJP
R�LOSRM

?���)�,���)���&,)
���&��#���
�

TJOPMLL�Q�MUJVMPKM�Q�KH
PLWNOSOJHP�LOSRM

XJPVJPRLY�KHPKNWLJHPL�S
PV�ZMKH[[MPVSOJHPL

XJPSN�ZMUJM\�ZMIHZO�SRZM
M[MPO

6�&	��#���
�
GSZRMO�]ŜJPMO�ZMIHZOJP

R #����	
�$�
+�)��*���
_�

�	&)����&���
�&�

ẀSZOMZNa�bKcHHN�dNSKML�d
NSPPJPR�eIVSOM

f
f

f
f

f
gPPWSN�KH[INSJPOL�h�LM

ZUJKM�WIVSOM�ZMIHZO�
f

bOSPVSZVL�gOOSJP[MPO�Z
MIHZO�iJPKNj�bKcHHN�k[IZ

HUM[MPOLl
f

f
]km�noIMPVJOWZM�pHPJOH

ZJPR�q�gPPWSN�rMIHZO
f

sWVRMO�dNSPPJPR�rMIHZ
O�tHZ�rMLJVMPOL�bMZUJKML

f
]ŜJPMOuL�̂WVRMO�IZHIH

LSNL�tHZ�PMoO�tJPSPKJSN�aM
SZ

f
]ŜJPMO�XHZ\SZV�dNSP�p

HPOcNa�pHPJOHZJPR
ff

ff
ff

f
ff

ff
.&���__�$�
+�)����&���


�&�
kPtHZ[SOJHP�kOM[�HP�inNM

KOJUM�vH[M�nVWKSOJHPl
f

nPtHZKM[MPO�Ht�dSZwJPR
�bKcM[ML�SKZHLL�OcM�sH

ZHWRc
f

-	$��
�+����%���+�
� gJZ�̀WSNJOa�gKOJHP�dNSP
f

dSa[MPO�pHVMZPJLSOJHP
�tHZ�xMa�rMLJVMPO�bMZUJK

ML�iÔKl

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To agree the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Standards and Quality in Education in Hillingdon 2018/2019
	6 Elective Home Education Update
	8 Cabinet Forward Plan
	Cabinet Forward Plan

	9 Work Programme
	Combined POC Multi-Year Work Programmes 2018-2022


